CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING AGENDA
MONDAY, APRIL 8, 2024 AT 6:30 P.M.
Glanton Municipal Complex, City Council Chambers, 123 Lagrange Street, Grantville, GA 30220

-

Call to Order

PUBLIC HEARING:

Public Hearing on Zoning Ordinance No. 2024-04 Text Amendment NUP - Article 3A — Planned Unit District
Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan was reviewed by the Planning Commission. The
planning commission voted to recommend the City Council adopt the zoning ordinance text amendment as
presented in Exhibit A, attached hereto (Public Hearing will be held on Monday, April 22, 2024 at 6:30 p.m.

or thereafter)

Discussion on Second Reading of Ordinance No. 2024-04 Text Amendments to Zoning Ordinance NUP

Discussion on Resolution No. 2024-04 LMIG Project for FY2024: Downtown Area Drainage Improvement
Project

Discussion on Resolution No. 2024-05 Accepting the FY2023 Audited Financial Statements
Discussion on Resolution No. 2024-06 Updated Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) — Exhibit A
Discussion on Resolution No. 2024-07 Pole Attachment License Agreement

Discussion on First Reading of Ordinance No. 2024-05 to Amend and Restate the Retirement Plan for the
Employees of the City of Grantville

Discussion on First Reading of Ordinance No. 2024-06 to Amend Chapter 2: Art. VII, Section 2-162 to Establish
the Process for Filling Vacancies on the Recreation Advisory Board; Terms of Appointment; and for other

purposes

Announcements:

MEAG Power 2023 Year-End Settlement; Cost-of-Service Study: Electric Rates; Pet Waste Stations in
Parks; and Property and Liability Insurance Cost Increase for 2024-2025

Adjournment



PUBLIC HEARING

The City Council of the City of Grantville will hold a public hearing on
Monday, April 22, 2024, at 6:30 p.m. at the Glanton Municipal
Complex, 123 LaGrange Street, Grantville, GA. The purpose of the
hearing will be to receive public comment on the adoption of an
ordinance to make the following text amendments to the City of
Grantville Zoning Ordinance: Amend Section 3A.1 NUP
Neighborhood Unit Plan zoning category. A copy of the proposed
ordinance is available for public inspection in the office of the City
Clerk during regular business hours.



Brennan Jones Engineering

Associates, LL

7513 Mason Falls Dr., Winston, Georgia 30187
(p) 770.688.5148 (f) 770.577.0300

Memorandum

To: Al Grieshaber, Jr., City Manager

From: Brennan D. Jones, P.E., Zoning Administrator
cc: Mayor & City Council

Date:  April 1, 2024

Re: April 1, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting

The Planning Commission met on April 1, 2024. The meeting agenda and minutes from the Planning
Commission Meeting are attached for review.

The Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment- Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 —
NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan was reviewed by the Planning Commission. The planning commission
voted to recommend the City Council adopt the zoning ordinance text amendment as presented in Exhibit
A, attached hereto.

The Planning Commission discussed the Draft Residential Development and Appearance Standards.
Several items in the draft document were updated however, no formal action was taken by the Planning
Commission on this item. :

END OF MEMORANDUM



EXHIBIT A

Grantville Zoning Ordinance Proposed Text Amendment
Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan
April 1, 2024

1. Name and address of applicant.

Mayor Richard Proctor
123 LaGrange Street
Grantville, GA 30220

2. Current provisions of text to be affected by amendment.

Changes to Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan
are indicated below. Original text is shown and amendments are indicated in red text.:

NUP District scope and intent. Regulations set forth in this section are the NUP district regulations.
The NUP district is intended to provide land areas devoted to low- to medium-density single-family
residential uses of 3 or fewer units per acre consistent with the densities ranges suggested by the
City Council. The NUP district is intended to: 1) encourage the development of medium sized
tracts of land as planned neighborhoods or the development of vacant parcels of land with
transitional densities in built-up areas; 2) encourage the preservation of trees and vegetation; and
to 3) encourage innovative site planning. Land proposed for a NUP shall comply with the following
standards:

A. Provide a density that is consistent with the plan densities.

B. Protect neighboring properties by requiring peripheral setbacks and development standards as
required by the conditions of zoning.

Use Regulations. within the NUP district, land and structures shall be used in accordance with
standards herein. Any use not specifically designated as a permitted use in this section shall be
prohibited.

A. Permitted Uses — Structures and land may be used for only the following purposes:
1.Single-family dwelling.
2.Recreation facilities associated with single-family development.

B. Accessory Uses — A structure or land may be used for uses customarily incidental to any
permitted use and a dwelling may be used for a home occupation.

C.

mad&a—paﬁ»eiﬂm&nanee— Estabhshment of a Homeowners Assocsa’uon mcludmg

Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions is required. The Homeowner's
Association is responsible for maintenance of common areas and amenities within the
development.

Development Plan. The development plan shall be the zoning control document for features
depicted graphically. The site plan requirement applicable to rezoning requests shall be adhered
to for NUP rezoning requests.

A. Development Standards:
1) Height Regulations — No building shall exceed (40} (35) feet in height.
2) Minimum lot area per unit - 6,000 sq. ft.




EXHIBIT A

4} 3)-Maximum Density — 3 units per gross acre.

5} 4) Minimum lot width — None unless specified in conditions.
8} 5) Minimum development frontage — 35 feet.

4} 6) Minimum heated floor area per unit — 1400 sq. ft. detached.

8} 7) Minimum Perimeter setback for the entire NUP development — A 20-foot setback shall
be provided around the periphery of the development.

8} 8) Minimum interior setbacks:
a) Minimum front yard — 20 feet.
b) Minimum side yard — 7.5 feet.
¢) Minimum rear yards — 10 feet.

40} 9} Minimum interior building separations — To place a building along an Interior side lot
line at between zero and 7 feet shall require an encroachment and maintenance easement
allowing a minimum of 7 feet of access to such buildings. A minimum building separation of
14 feet shall be maintained.

44 10) Minimum Accessory Structure Requirements — Accessory structures May be located
in rear or sides yards, but shall not be located within a minimum rear yard except that
detached garages may locate along a rear lot line at between zero and 7 feet with an
encroachment and maintenance easement allowing a minimum of 7 feet of access to the
garage.

11) Sidewalks are required within the development.

12) Underground utilities (i.e., power, CATV, telephone, internet, water, and sewer), are
required within the development.

13) Street lights are required within the development.

14) A minimum of 30% of the gross development area shall be in greenspace in undisturbed
condition. Stormwater detention facilities are excluded from greenspace area calculations.

3. Reason for amendment request.

The text amendment is requested to allow for flexibility for developments and housing options throughout
the City.



Grantville Planning Commission
Meeting Minutes

Date: April 1, 2024
Time: 6:00 p.m.
Location: Grantville City Hall, 123 LaGrange Street Grantville, Georgia 30220

Mr. Raptis called the Planning Commission meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

Attendance
Tyree Raptis, Chairman
Robin Bugg
Jared Larger
Mark Sprada
Brennan Jones, Zoning Administrator

Public Attendance
Richard Proctor, Mayor

Review & Approval of Minutes

Adoption of Planning Commission Meeting Minutes from March 4, 2024

Planning Commission meeting minutes for the meeting held on March 4, 2024, were distributed to
the members for review and adoption. After review of the minutes, Mrs. Bugg made a motion to
adopt the March 4, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting Minutes. Mr. Clay seconded the motion.
After discussion, Mr. Raptis called for a vote and the motion passed unanimously.

Report of Committees

None

Unfinished Business

Text Amendment Neighborhood Unit Plan (NUP) Zoning District

Mrs. Bugg made a motion to take the Text Amendment Neighborhood Unit Plan (NUP) Zoning
District off the table. Mr. Sprada seconded the motion and Mr. Raptis took up the text amendment
for action by the Commission.

Brennan Jones presented and reviewed the NUP zoning district text amendment shown in Exhibit A
with the Planning Commission. Several changes were made during discussion of the text
amendment and Exhibit A includes all changes and updates made by the members.

Following discussion, Mrs. Bugg made a motion to recommend the City Council adopt the zoning
ordinance text amendments for Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP
Neighborhood Unit Plan, as presented in the Attached Exhibit A including a minimum house size of
1,400 square feet. Mr. Larger seconded the motion. Mr. Raptis called for a vote and the motion
passed unanimously.

Discussion — Draft Residential Development and Appearance Standards

Page 1 of 2



Mrs. Bugg made a motion to take the Draft Residential Development and Appearance Standards off
the table. Mr. Larger seconded the motion and Mr. Raptis took up the text amendment for
discussion by the Commission.

Brennan Jones presented and reviewed the Draft Residential Development and Appearance
Standards with the Planning Commission. The members offered several revisions to the document
which are reflected in the attached draft document. No formal action was taken by the Planning
Commission on this item.

Hearing of Cases

None

New Business

None

Adjournment

Mrs. Bugg made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Larger seconded the motion. Mr. Raptis
adjourned the Planning Commission Meeting at 7:35 p.m.

Page 2 of 2



EXHIBIT A

Grantville Zoning Ordinance Proposed Text Amendment
Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan
Aprii 1, 2024

1. Name and address of applicant.

Mayor Richard Proctor
123 LaGrange Street
Grantville, GA 30220

2. Current provisions of text to be affected by amendment.

Changes to Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan
are indicated below. Original text is shown and amendments are indicated in red text.:

NUP District scope and intent. Regulations set forth in this section are the NUP district regulations.
The NUP district is intended to provide land areas devoted to low- to medium-density single-family
residential uses of 3 or fewer units per acre consistent with the densities ranges suggested by the
City Council. The NUP district is intended to: 1) encourage the development of medium sized
tracts of land as planned neighborhoods or the development of vacant parcels of land with
transitional densities in built-up areas; 2) encourage the preservation of trees and vegetation; and
to 3) encourage innovative site planning. Land proposed for a NUP shall comply with the following
standards:

A. Provide a density that is consistent with the plan densities.

B. Protect neighboring properties by requiring peripheral setbacks and development standards as
required by the conditions of zoning.

Use Regulations. within the NUP district, land and structures shall be used in accordance with
standards herein. Any use not specifically designated as a permitted use in this section shall be
prohibited.

A. Permitted Uses — Structures and land may be used for only the following purposes:
1.Single-family dwelling.
2.Recreation facilities associated with single-family development.

B. Accessory Uses — A structure or land may be used for uses customarily incidental to any
permitted use and a dwelling may be used for a home occupation.

rmade-a-part-of-this-ordinance- Establishment of a Homeowners Association including
Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions is required. The Homeowner's
Association is responsible for maintenance of common areas and amenities within the

development.

Development Plan. The development plan shall be the zoning control document for features
depicted graphically. The site plan requirement applicable to rezoning requests shall be adhered
to for NUP rezoning requests.

£3 K3 ) 1) .
v - ~ 4

A. Development Standards:
1) Height Regulations — No building shall exceed 48} (35) feet in height.
2) Minimum lot area per unit - 6,000 sq. ft.

A LJ - RAHHHYH -] ORHGLO




EXHIBIT A

43} 3)-Maximum Density — 3 units per gross acre.

6} 4) Minimum lot width — None unless specified in conditions.
8} 5) Minimum development frontage — 35 feet.

14} 6) Minimum heated floor area per unit — 1400 sq. ft. detached.

8} 7) Minimum Perimeter setback for the entire NUP development — A 20-foot setback shall
be provided around the periphery of the development.

8} 8) Minimum interior setbacks:
a) Minimum front yard — 20 feet.
b) Minimum side yard — 7.5 feet.
¢) Minimum rear yards — 10 feet.

48} 9) Minimum interior building separations — To place a building along an Interior side lot
line at between zero and 7 feet shall require an encroachment and maintenance easement
allowing a minimum of 7 feet of access to such buildings. A minimum building separation of
14 feet shall be maintained.

144 10) Minimum Accessory Structure Requirements — Accessory structures May be located
in rear or sides yards, but shall not be located within a minimum rear yard except that
detached garages may locate along a rear lot line at between zero and 7 feet with an
encroachment and maintenance easement allowing a minimum of 7 feet of access to the
garage.

11) Sidewalks are required within the development.

12) Underground utilities (i.e., power, CATV, telephone, internet, water, and sewer), are
required within the development.

13) Street lights are required within the development.

14) A minimum of 30% of the gross development area shall be in greenspace in undisturbed
condition. Stormwater detention facilities are excluded from greenspace area calculations.

3. Reason for amendment request.

The text amendment is requested to allow for flexibility for developments and housing options throughout
the City.



DRAFT

Residential Development and Appearance Standards

The following standards apply to new residential subdivision developments:

1.
2.

10.

11

12.

All homes shall be within 1,000 feet from a fire hydrant, as per Fire Marshal’s recommendation.

The use of individual septic systems, if required, will require a level 3 soil analysis for the subdivision lots.
All lots shall have adequate land area to support an onsite wastewater management system including a
back-up reserve area for a replacement drain field, conforming to Department of Public Health
standards.

Extension of water system is required to serve the proposed development. Water lines are to be sized
and looped in accordance with Grantville Development Standards.

All stormwater ponds shall be located on homeowner’s association common property.

Streets: Streets with curb and gutters are required on all streets shall be installed in accordance with the
Grantville Development Standards.

Sidewalks: Minimum 4 feet width, required on both sides of the street in front of residential lots. Crushed
red brick (or equivalent) for landscaping walkways is permitted in common areas outside of City-
maintained rights-of-way.

Street lighting: Required and shall be installed in accordance with the Grantville Development Standards
and fixtures shall be located no more than five hundred (500) feet apart.

Utilities shall be located underground throughout the subdivision. All customary utilities, including
electricity, water, sewer, gas, telephone and cable television/high-speed internet access, shall be
available.

Minimum Common Area Greenspace: at least 30% of the gross tract area, of which 10% shall not be
floodplains. Stormwater detention facilities shall be excluded from greenspaces.

Homeowner’s Association (HOA): A homeowner’s association including restrictive covenants applying to
all property developed in the-g subdivision, requiring minimum architectural standards, shall be created
and filed with the subdivision final plat. Developer shall submit as part of the HOA restrictive covenants,
a Greenspace Management Plan that allocates responsibility and guidelines for the maintenance and
operation of the greenspace, landscaping, stormwater detention facilities, amenities, and any facilities,
including entrance features and signage, located thereon.

The applicant shall submit a 3-year maintenance bond for all new constructions including roads,
sidewalks, street lights, underground utilities including water system, electrical, cable television, internet,
telephone, etc., storm drainage, stormwater detention facilities, erosion control on HOA common
property, and graffiti removal. The bond value shall be in the amount 10% of actual cost of construction.
The applicant shall provide a subdivision compietion bond in the amount of 100% of the development
cost. The subdivision completion bond shall remain in effect until the final plat for the subdivision has
been approved by the Grantville and filed with Coweta County Clerk of Court.

The Following Architectural Design Standards shall apply to the development. Grantville City Council may
grant variances to these standards.

1

Architectural style shall be “vernacular”, reflective of the architectural style of the local surrounding
region.

Materials — exterior materials shall be traditional wood lap siding, fiber cement siding, brick, stone or
cultured stone. Shakes and Board & Batten may be used for accents only. Vinyl or aluminum siding
allowed only for eaves, soffits, gutters, and covered porch ceilings. Brick houses must have a minimum
of 3 full sides brick.



3. Porches shall form a predominant motif of house designs and be located on the front or to the side of
the dwelling. All porches will have a minimum depth of 6 feet and should be constructed of materials in
keeping with those of the main building.

4. Main roofs on residential buildings shall be symmetrical gables or hips with a pitch of between 6:12 and
12:12. Porch roof pitch minimum is 2:12. Roof material shall be minimum 25-year architectural asphalt
shingles (or equivalent) and shall be dark colors (no light or red colors). Openings in the roof should be
kept to a minimum and should open to the rear of the house and painted in same range of roof shingle.
Overhang on roof eaves shall be a minimum of twelve inches (12”) and a maximum of eighteen inches
(18").

5. Columns should be simple wooden or vinyl posts, typically six-inches (6”) square, or if round or square
columns with classical details, the dimensions and moldings should be of correct proportions.

6. All exposed chimneys must be constructed of brick, rack, stucco or cement type wall siding or other high-
quality materiais in a manner suitable to the proposed building style.

7. Residential windows shall be vertical. Accent windows may be circular, semicircular, octagonal,
rectangular or hexagonal. Shutters shall be provided for a majority of street facing windows.

8. Colors —exterior painted colors shall be a traditional solid color or semi-solid stain.

9. Forsingle family detached homes with zarages, Garages-garages shall (i) load from the front, side, rear
or courtyard of the houses; (i) shall be of an architectural design to match the home style and
constructed of high-quality materials; and (iii) garages shall include an exterior service door. Garage
interior shall be trimmed and painted. Front loading garages shall be limited to no more than +5-50
percent of the total number of lots within new singie family detached home subdivisions.

10. Pre-finished custom Six- (6) inch seamless gutters and downspouts shall be installed.

»3:2«»11 W:thln new sinzle famr!t detached home subdzvzsuons each Eaeh—«lot shall have a professmnally
prepared landscape plan submitted to the City for review as part of the building permit application
process. Building permit application that do not include the landscape plan will be returned as
mcomplete Landscapmg on lots shall be professmnally mstalled and shaII lnclude as a minimum: 4-street

foundatlon shrubs sodded front aneiwmde and rear yards seédeé@weedeé-ﬁeawardfrom lot line to lot
ine, and pine straw or shredded mulch_in landscaping plant beds.
a. Alllandscaping shall be done no later than the issuance of Certificate of Occupancy.
b. No Bradford Pear trees or other nuisance high seed-count trees.
+3-12. A maximum of 20% of the homes can have a Repeating-repeating house elevation, _s-will-not-be

alowed,



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-04

AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE
CITY OF GRANTVILLE TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING TEXT AMENDMENTS
TO THE ORDINANCE TO AMEND ARTICLE 3A PLANNED UNIT DISTRICT

REGULATIONS BY REQUIRING A HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION AND

REVISING THE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS IN A PLANNED UNIT

DISTRICT; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Grantville have determined that it is
in the best interest of the City to amend the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Grantville;

The Mayor and Council of the City of Grantville, Georgia hereby ordain as follows:
Section 1.

Article 3A. Planned Unit District Regulations is amended as follows:

A. Section 3A.1 is amended by deleting Use Restrictions Paragraph (C) in its
entirety and replacing it as follows:

C. Establishment of a Homeowners’ Association, including Declaration of
Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions is required. The Homeowners’
Association is responsible for maintenance of common areas and
amenities in the development.

B. Section 3A.1 is amended by deleting Development Plan Paragraph (A)
Development Standards in its entirety and replacing it as follows:

A. Development Standards

1) Height Regulations- No building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet
in height.

2) Minimum lot area per unit- Six Thousand (6,000) square feet.
3) Maximum Density- Three (3) units per gross acre.

4) Minimum lot width- None, unless specified in conditions.

5) Minimum depth frontage- Thirty-five (35) feet.

6) Minimum heated floor area per unit- Fourteen Hundred (1,400)
square feet detached.

7) Minimum perimeter setback for the entire NUP development- A
twenty (20) foot setback shall be provided around the periphery of
the development.



Section 2.

8) Minimum interior setbacks:
a. Minimum front yard- twenty (20) feet.
b. Minimum side yard- Seven and one half (&.5) feet.
c. Minimum rear yard- Ten (10) feet.

9) Minimum interior building separations- To place a building along
an interior side lot line at between zero (0) and seven (7) feet shall
require and encroachment and maintenance easement allowing a
minimum of seven (7) feet of access to such buildings. A minimum
building separation of fourteen (14) feet shall be maintained.

10) Minimum  Accessory Structure Requirements- Accessory
structures may be located in rear or side yards, but shall not be
located within a minimum rear yard, except that detached garages
may be located along a rear lot line at between zero (0) and seven
(7) feet with and encroachment and maintenance easement
allowing a minimum of seven (7) feet of access to the garage.

11) Sidewalks are required within the development.

12) Underground utilities (i.e., power, CATYV, telephone, internet,
water, and sewer) are required within the development.

13) Street lights are required within the development.

14) A minimum of thirty (30%) percent of the gross development area
shall be maintained as greenspace in undisturbed condition.
Stormwater detention facilities are excluded from greenspace
calculations.

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are repealed.

First Reading:

Attest:

SO ORDAINED in lawfully assembled open session this _  day of

, 2024.

MAYOR

Clerk



Brennan Jones Engineering

Associates, LLC

7513 Mason Falls Dr., Winston, Georgia 30187
(p) 770.688.5148 (f) 770.577.0300

Memorandum

To: Al Grieshaber, Jr., City Manager

From: Brennan D. Jones, P.E., Zoning Administrator
cc: Mayor & City Council

Date: April 1,2024

Re: April 1, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting

The Planning Commission met on April 1, 2024. The meeting agenda and minutes from the Planning
Commission Meeting are attached for review.

The Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment- Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 —
NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan was reviewed by the Planning Commission. The planning commission
voted to recommend the City Council adopt the zoning ordinance text amendment as presented in Exhibit
A, attached hereto.

The Planning Commission discussed the Draft Residential Development and Appearance Standards.
Several items in the draft document were updated however, no formal action was taken by the Planning
Commission on this item. :

END OF MEMORANDUM



EXHIBIT A

Grantville Zoning Ordinance Proposed Text Amendment
Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan
April 1, 2024

1. Name and address of applicant.

Mayor Richard Proctor
123 LaGrange Street
Grantville, GA 30220

2. Current provisions of text to be affected by amendment.

Changes to Article 3A — Planned Unit District Regulations, Section 3A.1 — NUP Neighborhood Unit Plan
are indicated below. Original text is shown and amendments are indicated in red text.:

NUP District scope and intent. Regulations set forth in this section are the NUP district regulations.
The NUP district is intended to provide land areas devoted to low- to medium-density single-family
residential uses of 3 or fewer units per acre consistent with the densities ranges suggested by the
City Council. The NUP district is intended to: 1) encourage the development of medium sized
tracts of land as planned neighborhoods or the development of vacant parcels of land with
transitional densities in built-up areas; 2) encourage the preservation of trees and vegetation; and
to 3) encourage innovative site planning. Land proposed for a NUP shall comply with the following
standards:

A. Provide a density that is consistent with the plan densities.

B. Protect neighboring properties by requiring peripheral setbacks and development standards as
required by the conditions of zoning.

Use Regulations. within the NUP district, land and structures shall be used in accordance with
standards herein. Any use not specifically designated as a permitted use in this section shall be
prohibited.

A. Permitted Uses — Structures and land may be used for only the following purposes:
1.Single-family dwelling.
2.Recreation facilities associated with single-family development.

B. Accessory Uses — A structure or land may be used for uses customarily incidental to any
permitted use and a dwelling may be used for a home occupation.

- Establishment of a Homeowners Association including
Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions is required. The Homeowner’s
Association is responsible for maintenance of common areas and amenities within the
development.

Development Plan. The development plan shall be the zoning control document for features
depicted graphically. The site plan requirement applicable to rezoning requests shall be adhered
to for NUP rezoning requests.

A. Development Standards:
1) Height Regulations — No building shall exceed {49) (35) feet in height.
2) Minimum lot area per unit - 6,000 sq. ft.

A o - Manimiim 4 _contdauoe




EXHIBIT A

43 3)-Maximum Density — 3 units per gross acre.

&} 4) Minimum lot width — None unless specified in conditions.
6) 5) Minimum development frontage — 35 feet.

7} 6) Minimum heated floor area per unit — 1400 sq. ft. detached.

8} 7) Minimum Perimeter setback for the entire NUP development — A 20-foot setback shall
be provided around the periphery of the development.

93 8) Minimum interior setbacks:
a) Minimum front yard — 20 feet.
b) Minimum side yard — 7.5 feet.
¢) Minimum rear yards — 10 feet.

493 9) Minimum interior building separations — To place a building along an Interior side lot
line at between zero and 7 feet shall require an encroachment and maintenance easement
allowing a minimum of 7 feet of access to such buildings. A minimum building separation of
14 feet shall be maintained.

44 10) Minimum Accessory Structure Requirements — Accessory structures May be located
in rear or sides yards, but shall not be located within a minimum rear yard except that
detached garages may locate along a rear lot line at between zero and 7 feet with an
encroachment and maintenance easement allowing a minimum of 7 feet of access to the
garage.

11) Sidewalks are required within the development.

12) Underground utilities (i.e., power, CATV, telephone, internet, water, and sewer), are
required within the development.

13) Street lights are required within the development.

14) A minimum of 30% of the gross development area shall be in greenspace in undisturbed
condition. Stormwater detention facilities are excluded from greenspace area calculations.

3. Reason for amendment request.

The text amendment is requested to allow for flexibility for developments and housing options throughout
the City.



THE CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-04
BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE LOCAL
MAINTENANCE IMPROVEMENT GRANT PROJECT (LMIG) FOR FISCAL
YEAR 2024

WHEREAS, The City of Grantville has received LMIG funds in Fiscal Year
2022, Fiscal Year 2023, and Fiscal Year 2024 from the Georgia Department of
Transportation (GDOT); and

WHEREAS, the City of Grantville has accumulated the LMIG funds to invest
them in revitalizing the downtown area infrastructure of the City of Grantville.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of
Grantville that the Downtown Area Drainage on Main Street from Post Street to Church
Street including but not limited to the intersection of Main Street, Griffin Street, West
Broad Street and Church Street is designated as the Fiscal Year 2024 LMIG Project for
the City of Grantville.

This Resolution is passed this 22™ day of April 2024.

Richard Proctor, Mayor

ATTEST:

Roberta Higgins, City Clerk



THE CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-05
BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL

A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023, FOR THE
CITY OF GRANTYVILLE

WHEREAS, The City engaged the services of Gerald G. Pentecost, Jr. CPA to
perform audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business type
activities and each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City
of Grantville, Georgia as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023; and

WHEREAS, the audit of these statements and funds and the schedule of findings
and responses has been completed and presented to the City Council for acceptances;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of
the City of Grantville, Georgia, and it is hereby resolved as follows:

The Audited Financial Statements and Supplemental Information — September 30,
2023 for the City of Grantville is hereby accepted and will be forwarded to all other

appropriate agencies.

IT IS SO RESOLVED this 22" day of April 2024.

Richard Proctor, Mayor

ATTEST:

Roberta Higgins, City Clerk



FinaL

CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

GERALD G. PENTECOST, JR., CPA

Cerufted Public Accountants



THE CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-06
BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL

WHEREAS, in order to allow time for careful planning and coordination of
capital improvement projects in the City of Grantville and to prepare financially for those
projects which represent major expenses for the City, it is essential for the City Council
to identify the City’s capital improvement needs, set priorities, and allocate financial
resources for multi-year period; and

WHEREAS, the City of Grantville lacks the financial resources to undertake all
capital improvement projects it is necessary for the City Council to determine what
financing options will available, and

WHEREAS, an updated Capital Improvement Plan for calendar years 2024-2029
is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of
Grantville, Georgia, that the City of Grantville updated Capital Improvement Plan for
Calendar Years 2024-2029 is hereby adopted to serve as a planning document identifying
community needs for a variety of public improvements, potential financing sources and
projected time frames.

It is so resolved this 22" day of April 2024 by the City Council of the City of
Grantville.

Richard Proctor, Mayor

ATTEST:

Roberta Higgins, Cify Clerk



1401 8eg

V uqiyxg

00°000°0ST$

00°000°0ST$

00°000°00Z$

00°000°0St$

00000066

00°000°00t°2$

00°000'0VE‘vS

-di) V101

00'000°0S$

00°000°05%

Jled 199415 1504 :WIoOoILyleg JUSULLIIRd

00°000'SZS

00°000°'62S

59|04 8e|q yied SUBIAIDA

00°000'SZTS

00'000°SZTS

00°000°0SZS

peoy UoUURYOg :UOISUIIXT Ul SEH

00°000°00TS 00°000°001S sesawe) adijod

00°000°05$ 00°000°05% 00°000°001S Sulwwiy 2811 Aan

00"000°00TS 00°'000°001S a8euleiq 19215 a8uelSe

00°000°0S¢$ |00°000°00TS 00°000°0SES a8eulelq 1998 IR /392135 YydIny)
00°000°05S 00°000°05% g aup Jamas |leq A

00°000'002$ 00°000°00Z5 (vaa) 101 Bunped A

00°00000Z$ 000000025 jooy |leH A1)

00°000°09TS

00°000°0vES

(€20Z"v7'£0 Uo |1PUN0) Aq panciddy) 1odaq 1ySiau4

00°000°0STS

00°0000STS

00'000°002$

00°000'002$

00°000°08TS

00°000'58$

2deds1oans UoNEZ||RLADY UMOJUMOQ

00°000'£$

00'000°SL$

juawdinb3 yued

00°000°0SZ$

00'000052$

apes3dn s1emyos |erpueuly

00'000°008$

Ul J9YBM 67 AMH

[E30) puels

6202-20¢ SAea |easiy 104
198png / ueld uawsnosdwi jende) ajpaueds jo Ay




THE CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-07
BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING POLE ATTACHMENT
LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR DISTRIBUTION POLES BETWEEN THE CITY
OF GRANTVILLE AND SPECTRUM SOUTHEAST, LLC

WHEREAS, the City of Grantville and Spectrum Southeast, LLC desire to enter
into a pole attachment license agreement for the use of the City of Grantville’s poles,
erected or to be erected with the corporate limits of the City of Grantville or wherever the
City of Grantville provides electric energy to be consistent with the terms of Exhibit A.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of
Grantville, that the Pole Attachment License Agreement for Distribution Poles attached
in Exhibit A hereto and incorporated herein as if set forth verbatim, is approved and
adopted for the City of Grantville.

It is so resolved this 22" day of April 2024 by the City Council of the City of
Grantville.

Richard Proctor, Mayor

ATTEST:

Roberta Higgins, City Clerk



Alston & Bird
Draft 11/7/13

POLE ATTACHMENT LICENSE AGREEMENT

FOR DISTRIBUTION POLES



TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE ...ttt ettt s sa e e bbb et ens 2
ARTICLE 1 - SCOPE OF AGREEMENT ........oooiiiiiriitntene ettt 2
ARTICLE 2 — EXPLANATION OF TERMS ..ottt 2
ARTICLE 3 - SPECIFICATIONS ... ettt veeeet et sr e e sttt see e 6
ARTICLE 4 - ESTABLISHING ATTACHMENTS TO POLES ........cccccconimiieniiceeereeeee 7
ARTICLE 5 - RIGHT OF WAY FOR LICENSEE'S ATTACHMENTS .......cooveeiveiecee 10
ARTICLE 6 - MAINTENANCE OF POLES AND ATTACHMENTS ......ccocooviivvreereeieeeene. 10
ARTICLE 7 - DIVISION OF COSTS ..ottt st sseesste st et sre e 12
ARTICLE 8 - SAFETY INSPECTIONS. ..ottt sttt st 14
ARTICLE 9 - UNAUTHORIZED ATTACHMENTS ..ottt 16
ARTICLE 10 - ABANDONMENT OF LICENSED POLES .........ccccooinminininieeieeee e 16
ARTICLE 11 - POLE ATTACHMENT RENTAL FEES.......cc.cciiiiiiiceerer et 16
ARTICLE 12 —DEFAULTS ...ttt ettt st r e saa v s et ae e 18
ARTICLE 13 - RIGHTS OF OTHER PARTIES .......c.cccooiiiiiiiiiiniinenecienenene e eve s 18
ARTICLE 14 - ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS .....c.ccciiiiiiiiiiiceneeeee e srs s 19
ARTICLE 15 - WAIVER OF TERMS OR CONDITIONS ...t 20
ARTICLE 16 - PAYMENT OF TAXES ...ttt tesse st 20
ARTICLE 17 - BILLS AND PAYMENT FOR WORK ........cccoiiiiieieceeenecre e 20
ARTICLE 18 - NOTICES ...ttt ettt ettt st e n e 21
ARTICLE 19 - RESOLUTION OF CERTAIN DISPUTES ........ccccccoeiiiiiiceneeeeeereeee, 23
ARTICLE 20 - TERM OF AGREEMENT .......ccooiiiiiiiiiiineeeeeceneeesrereese et 25
ARTICLE 21 - EXISTING CONTRACTS ...ttt esvene s te e 26
ARTICLE 22 - ELECTRIC PROVIDER SYSTEM FINANCING OR SALE OF SYSTEM..... 26
ARTICLE 23 — LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION ......cccooooiiiiieiienirenrictsre e, 26
ARTICLE 24 - CONSTRUCTION ....ccccoiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeteeeteresie e ssretesaesse et et es e nene e 29
ARTICLE 25 - REMEDIES CUMULATIVE .......coiiiiinnce sttt 29
ARTICLE 26 - MISCELLANEOUS ...ttt et esnesra st 29
APPENDIX A - ATTACHMENT REQUEST/OVERLASH NOTIFICATION FORM .............. 33
SCHEDULE Lottt st sn e st assn e bsabsesnens 34
SCHEDULE 2.ttt sttt ete sttt et sttt et et s e a b e bt s b e e rsenbseneeensaresnnan 36

SCHEDULE 3. ..ttt ettt bt et et e e ae et s e e eneenrennea 37



POLE ATTACHMENT LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR DISTRIBUTION POLES

PREAMBLE

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), effective as of this _ day of | 2024 (“Effective
Date”), by and between the undersigned municipal corporation of the State of Georgia (the
“Electric Provider”), and Spectrum Southeast, LLC (the “Licensee”), referred to collectively as
“Parties,” and individually as “Party”;

WHEREAS, the Electric Provider and Licensee desire to enter into a pole attachment
license agreement for the use of Electric Provider’s poles, erected or to be erected within the area
in which both Parties render service in the State of Georgia, to be consistent with the terms of this

Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants herein
contained and other consideration set forth herein the adequacy of which is acknowledged, the
Parties hereto for themselves, their successors and assigns do hereby agree to the following terms
and conditions:

ARTICLE 1 - SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

A. This Agreement shall be in effect in the area in which both of the Parties render
service in the State of Georgia, and shall cover all distribution poles now existing or hereafter
erected in the above territory when said poles are brought under this Agreement in accordance
with the procedure hereinafter provided.

B. Electric Provider reserves the right for good cause to exclude from use any of its
facilities for objective reasons of safety, reliability, capacity, and generally applicable engineering
standards.

ARTICLE 2 —- EXPLANATION OF TERMS

A. For the purpose of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following
meanings: '

“Actual Costs” means all costs, including, but not limited to, the costs of materials, labor,
engineering, supervision, overheads, transportation and contractor fees, when used in lieu of
Electric Provider labor. Electric Provider Actual Costs shall be verifiably comparable to the cost
Electric Provider pays for similar work to its own facilities.

“Actual Inventory” is defined in Article 11.A hereof.
“Annual Adjustment Factor” is defined in Article 11.B.

“Application” means the process described in Article 4 hereof used by the Licensee to
receive Electric Provider’s permission to install initial facilities, or to add additional facilities



outside the Licensee’s allocated twelve inches (12”) of space on Electric Provider’s poles, as
provided herein. The form used for the Application process is identified as Appendix A and is
included as a part of this Agreement.

“Attachment” means any wire, line or apparatus attached to a Pole, including, cables,
Service Drops, power supplies, amplifiers, pedestals, bonding wires, Overlashings, guy wires and
anchors required to support unbalanced loads. A single Attachment includes the vertical space
consisting of a total of twelve inches (12”) either above or below, but not both, the bolted
Attachment. Where only one bolted Attachment is affixed to the Electric Provider’s Pole, and
service wires and/or “J-Hooks” are located within the same twelve inches (12”) occupied by the
bolted Attachment, such locations shall be counted as a single Attachment for Rental Fee purposes.
Each bolted Attachment shall constitute a second Attachment for billing purposes without respect
to the separation from the through-bolt.

“Clearance Space” means the space on the Pole below the point where horizontal wire or
horizontal cable equipment may not be installed in accordance with the Specifications. For
purposes of this definition, “horizontal” means spanning from Pole to Pole or extending more than
three feet (3°) from the surface of the Pole.

“Contact Person” is defined in Article 18.

“Cost in Place” means the cost of the bare pole, labor to install the pole and associated
overheads, including engineering.

“Effective Date” is defined in the Preamble.
“Electric Provider” is defined in the Preamble.
“Force Majeure Event” is defined in Article 26.C.

“Initial Inventory” means an Actual Inventory of Licensee’s Attachments completed within
one (1) year of the Effective Date of this Agreement, which will confirm the total number of
Licensee’s Attachments, a summary of obvious non-conforming Attachments and any pending
Licensee Transfers to Electric Provider poles.

“Initial Safety Inspection” means a safety inspection of Electric Provider poles to identify
and remediate non-conforming Attachments (e.g. NESC violations) and other safety conditions on
Electric Provider poles, performed after the Effective Date.

“Joint User” means a person or entity that is currently occupying or reserving space on
Electric Provider’s Poles, and has a right to attach to a Pole or anchor owned, controlled, or
otherwise operated by Electric Provider in return for granting Electric Provider equivalent rights
of Attachment or occupancy to poles and/or anchors, which the Joint User owns.

“J-Hook™ is a screw-like threaded item used to make attachments. The item resembles the
letter <),



“Licensed Pole” means a pole for which Licensee has a valid and effective permit to locate
and maintain an Attachment to the terms of this Agreement.

“Licensee” means the party having the right under this Agreement to make and maintain
Attachments on an Electric Provider Licensed Pole as defined in the Preamble.

“Licensee Transfer Date” is defined in Article 6.E.

“Make Ready” means all work necessary or appropriate to make space for or otherwise
accommodate new, additional or changed Attachments, including, but not limited to, necessary or
appropriate Rearrangements, removal and replacement of the pole, Transfers and other work

incident thereto.

“Make Ready Costs” means all costs necessary for Electric Provider, and other existing
parties on the applicable Pole, to prepare the Poles for Licensee’s new, additional or modified
Attachments, including, but not limited to, the costs of materials, labor, engineering, supervision,
overheads, and tree trimming costs. Engineering includes design, proper conductor spacing and
bonding, calculations to determine proper ground clearances and pole down guy and anchor
strength requirements for horizontal and transverse loading, and compliance with all applicable
requirements. Also included among Make Ready Costs are the costs of installing or changing out
primary Poles, secondary Poles and drop and lift poles, including the cost of installation and/or
removal of guys, anchors, stub poles, materials and equipment, temporary construction and all
other construction in accordance with the technical requirements and specifications as outlined in
this Agreement. Electric Provider Make Ready Costs shall be verifiably comparable to the cost
Electric Provider pays for similar Make Ready Work to its own facilities. Make Ready Costs do
not include any costs associated with correcting existing violations of the Electric Provider, or
others attached to Electric Provider’s Pole.

“Make Ready Estimate™ means the estimate prepared by Electric Provider for all Make
Ready Work that may be required by Electric Provider to accommodate Attachment(s) by

Licensee.

“Make Ready Work™ means all work required by Electric Provider or others attached to
the Pole to accommodate Attachment(s) by Licensee.

“NESC” is defined in Article 3.
“Outside Party” is defined as persons or entities not party to this Agreement.

“Overlashing” means affixing an additional cable or wire owned and operated by Licensee
to a cable or wire owned and operated by Licensee already attached to a Pole. Licensee shall not
allow third party Overlashing without Electric Provider’s prior approval or Overlashing to
Unauthorized Attachments.

“Parties” is defined in the Preamble.



“Pole” or “pole” means a wooden, concrete or steel structure owned, controlled, or
otherwise operated by Electric Provider to support distribution lines and related facilities of
Electric Provider, including drop and lift poles.

“Rental Fee,” “rental fee,” “Rental” or “rental” means the annual amount per billable
Attachment (as defined herein) that Licensee must pay to Electric Provider pursuant to Article 11
of this Agreement.

“Rearrangement” means the moving of Licensee Attachments, the Electric Provider’s
equipment or a third party’s equipment from one position to another on the same Pole.

“Referee” is defined in Article 19.B.

“Service Drop” means a Licensee wire or other facility used to connect to a customer’s
location from an Electric Provider pole.

“Specifications” is defined in Article 3 hereof.

“Transfer” means the removal of Attachments from one Pole and the placement of such
Attachments or substantially identical Attachments upon another Pole.

“Unauthorized Attachment” means any affixation of any Licensee Attachment to Electric
Provider Poles, which has not been authorized as required by this Agreement.

“Unauthorized Attachment Fee” means the fee to be paid by Licensee for each
Unauthorized Attachment.

“Vertical Attachment” is defined in Article 4.A.5(b).

B. The following rules of interpretation apply to this Agreement and are by this
reference incorporated into this Agreement:

(a) the word “or” is not exclusive and the words “including” or “include” are
not limiting;

(b) the words “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” or other words of
similar meaning refer to the entire document in which it is contained,

(c) a reference to any agreement or other contract includes permitted
supplements, amendments and restatements;

)] a reference to a law includes any amendment or modification to such law
and any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder or any law enacted in substitution or
replacement therefore;

(e) a reference to singular includes plural and vice-versa and each gender
includes the other;

® a reference to days, months, or years refers to calendar days, months, and
years, unless business days are specified;



® Article and Section headings and table of contents are only for reference
and are not to be considered in interpreting this Agreement;

(h) a reference to an Article, Section, Appendix, Exhibit or Schedule which
does not specify a particular document is to the relevant Article, Section, Appendix, Exhibit
or Schedule of the document containing the reference;

@) a reference to an Article includes all Sections and subsections contained in
such Article, and a reference to a Section or subsection includes all subsections of such
Section or subsection;

) All terms not otherwise defined herein will have the meaning commonly
ascribed thereto in the relevant industry;

&) “$” or “dollars” refers to United States dollars; and

(1)) The word “will” has the same meaning as “shall”.

ARTICLE 3 - SPECIFICATIONS

A. The use of the Poles covered by this Agreement shall be in conformity with all
applicable provision of the following (the “Specifications™): (1) Section 5 “Joint Use and
Clearances” of the Electric Cities of Georgia Inc. Construction Assembly Specifications (a copy
of which is attached hereto as Schedule 3 and incorporated herein by this reference) as it applies
to Licensee’s Attachments, and subsequent revisions thereof; and (2) requirements of the National
Electrical Safety Code (2012) of The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers,
Incorporated and subsequent revisions thereof (“NESC”). Where there is a disagreement between
Specifications, the applicable NESC Specifications shall apply. Modifications of, additions to, or
construction practices supplementing wholly or in part the requirements of the Specifications shall,
when accepted in writing by both Parties hereto, likewise govern the Licensee’s use of Poles, and
when so accepted shall be included within the term “Specifications”. Any revision to the
Specifications shall apply on a prospective basis, except as otherwise required by the NESC or any
applicable law. No Application is necessary to correct safety violations or comply with applicable
Specifications.

B. Each Party shall keep its Attachments in safe condition and in thorough repair.
Licensee’s Attachments shall be identified consistent with the Georgia Overhead Marking
Standards as adopted by the Georgia Utilities Coordinating Council. Attachments previously in
place on Electric Provider’s Poles shall be so identified by Licensee as regular or emergency work
occurs or at the next system rebuild opportunity, but not later than five (5) years from the Effective
Date of this Agreement. Licensee shall be responsible for periodically inspecting its Attachments
to ensure they have permanent identification markers. After the fifth year, should Electric Provider
encounter any of Licensee’s Attachments without permanent identification markers, Electric
Provider may notify Licensee, provided that Electric Provider can identify the Attachments as
belonging to Licensee. If the markers are not placed within sixty (60) days of such notice, then
Electric Provider may install the necessary markers, and Licensee shall reimburse Electric Provider
for the cost of such work.



ARTICLE 4 - ESTABLISHING ATTACHMENTS TO POLES

Before Licensee shall make use of Electric Provider’s Poles under this Agreement, it shall
submit an Application, as required herein. The Application shall be sent either (i) by electronic
mail with electronic mail “read” receipt obtained, (ii) hand delivery or (iii) by being deposited in
the United States mail with proper postage and properly addressed to the person receiving the
Application. When transmittal is by hand or U.S. mail, the Licensee will also send an electronic
mail message, return receipt requested, to Electric Provider as notice that the Application was
hand-delivered or sent by the U.S. mail.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensee shall not be required to submit an Application for
Overlashing. In lieu of submitting an Application, Licensee shall notify Electric Provider five (5)
business days prior to any Overlashing. Said notice shall be provided in the form of Appendix A
containing the necessary engineering data to confirm that the proposed Overlashing complies with
the Specifications. Licensee’s Overlashing shall be compliant with the Specifications. Licensee
will be responsible for all Make Ready Costs for Poles on which Licensee’s facilities were not
compliant at the time of the Overlashing, or as a result of the Overlashing, i.e., Make Ready that
would have been necessary hereunder had the Licensee submitted an Application for the applicable
Overlashing. Licensee will not be responsible for any Make Ready Costs attributable to non-
compliant conditions caused by the Electric Provider or others if the Overlashed Poles were out of
compliance prior to any such Overlashing. Licensee shall also notify and coordinate
rearrangements with all other Outside Parties when a proposed Overlashing impacts attachments
of affected Outside Parties.

A. APPLICATION AND NOTIFICATION PROCEDURE

1. Except in connection with (i) the placement of Service Drops, (ii) Pole Transfers, (iii) the
installation of power supplies, amplifiers or risers, (iv) Overlashing, (v) correcting
noncompliance, (vi) removals or (vii) any other written Electric Provider requested action of
the Licensee, Licensee must submit to Electric Provider an Application for any Licensee
construction on Electric Provider Poles (including reconstruction of existing Pole lines) that
involves the placement of new Attachments.

2. Licensee shall submit a completed Application on the form attached hereto and identified
as Appendix A, and all supporting data in accordance with said Application, or such other form
as may be mutually agreed upon, specifying fully, to the extent applicable, the information
shown on Appendix A.

Application Fee — Except as to installation of new Electric Provider Poles where none currently
exist, as provided for in Article 7.A., Licensee shall be charged in the amount of fifty dollars
(850) for each Application submitted under this Agreement. Electric Provider shall keep a
cumulative annual total of Application Fees and invoice Licensee for such Application Fees
annually, along with the annual Rental Fees. The invoice provided for herein shall be paid by
the Licensee simultaneously with its payment of the annual Rental Fees. Failure to include all
pertinent information relating to the Application set forth in Appendix A will result, at the
Electric Provider’s option, in the returning of the Application to Licensee unapproved or
holding the Application until the required documentation is received. Electric Provider will
make timely and reasonable efforts to contact Licensee should its Application be incomplete,



Inspection Fee — Except for any work required by Electric Provider, including, but not limited
to, Transfers and rearrangements done at the request of Electric Provider or a third party, road
improvement projects, and the installation of new Poles where none currently exist, Licensee
shall reimburse Electric Provider for the Actual Costs incurred by Electric Provider in
performing necessary field inspections and preparation of an estimate of the Make Ready Costs
of each Pole covered in the Appendix A. The Electric Provider will provide, as a deliverable
for the above inspection fees, a Pole inspection report with appropriate data as the Parties may
agree upon. Licensee shall reimburse Electric Provider for such costs within forty-five (45)
days of receipt of the invoice from Electric Provider.

Timeframes:

a) If Licensee’s Application includes ten (10) or less Poles, Electric Provider shall
approve, approve with conditions (e.g., if Make Ready is required), or deny Licensee’s
Application within fourteen (14) days after the receipt of a completed Application.

b) If Licensee’s Application includes between eleven (11) and one-hundred (100) Poles,
Electric Provider shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny Licensee’s
Application within thirty (30) days.

c) IfLicensee’s Application includes more than one-hundred (100) Poles, the Parties shall
negotiate a mutually-agrecable Application processing period for processing
Licensee’s Application.

If Licensee’s Application is approved or if Licensee’s Application is not rejected within the
applicable period specified above, the Application will be considered approved and the
Licensee shall have the right to place Attachments on such Pole(s) as provided in this
Agreement. If Licensee’s Application is conditionally approved, Electric Provider shall
include a Make Ready Estimate with its response. If the Electric Provider rejects the
Application in whole or in part, the Electric Provider will specify the reason(s). The
Application shall be rejected only for good cause, as provided for in Article 1.

3. The Make Ready Estimate shall offer sufficient detail so that Licensee can readily identify
the components of the proposed Make Ready Work and shall reflect costs that are verifiably
comparable with Electric Provider Actual Costs. If necessary, the Licensee shall request
clarification on the Make Ready Cost before requesting the Electric Provider to commence
Make Ready Work. The Electric Provider’s total charges shall be consistent with Article 7
herein (will not exceed 120% of the estimate), unless such additional costs are caused by
changes in Licensee’s plans from the original permit.

4. Electric Provider shall complete Make Ready Work on Applications involving ten (10) or
less Poles within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of Licensee’s written acceptance of the
Make Ready Estimate for such Make Ready Work. Electric Provider shall complete Make
Ready Work, if applicable, on permits involving between eleven (11) and one-hundred (100)
Poles within sixty (60) days of receipt of Licensee’s written acceptance of the Make Ready
Estimate for such Make Ready Work, if applicable. In the event Make Ready Work on
Application involves more than one-hundred (100) Poles, the Parties shall negotiate a
mutually-agreeable period for completing such Make Ready Work. Licensee may request



expedited handling of Electric Provider’s work, and Licensee shall be responsible for the
additional Actual Costs incurred by Electric Provider for such expedited processing. To the
extent it has the authority to do so, Electric Provider shall cause all other Licensees or Joint
Users to similarly expedite the completion of all Make Ready Work. Licensee shall make
payment for Electric Provider’s Make Ready Work within forty-five (45) days of the written
acceptance.

5. Electric Provider shall provide written notice to Licensee no later than three (3) business
days following the completion of Make Ready Work. Upon receipt of notice by Licensee from
Electric Provider that the Make Ready work has been completed, the Licensee shall have the
right hereunder to place its Attachments in accordance with the terms of the Application and
this Agreement (including Article 3 herein). If the Licensee fails to initiate construction within
one (1) calendar year from the Electric Provider’s notice of completion of Make Ready Work,
the Electric Provider may, in its sole discretion, deem the Application approval terms and
conditions outlined in the Appendix A null and void, and require the submission of another
Application, along with engineering fees necessary to reimburse the Electric Provider for
revised engineering and cost estimates, in the event Licensee still desires to attach to the Poles
originally approved for attachment. Where field conditions preclude such compliance (e.g.,
when the Licensee’s construction is delayed), Licensee shall notify the Electric Provider prior
to construction. Licensee shall provide written notice to Electric Provider no later than fifteen
(15) business days following the completion of Licensee’s work so that Electric Provider may
perform its inspection of Licensee’s new or modified Attachments to Electric Provider’s Pole.
Upon completion of the post inspection, Electric Provider will provide the Licensee an

inspection report.

a) Any Service Drop that is placed by the Licensee on an Electric Provider Pole shall be
subject to all the terms and provisions of this Agreement, except as expressly provided
in this Agreement, including in Article 2.

b) Licensee, without following the Application procedure, may utilize Clearance Space
below its Attachments, for terminals, risers, power supplies or other vertical
Attachments extending horizontally from the Pole no more than three feet (3’), and
such use does not interfere with the Electric Provider’s operations or the operations of
other Licensees or Joint Users presently attached to the Pole, and is otherwise
compliant with the terms of this Agreement (including the Specifications) (“Vertical
Attachment”). Any such Vertical Attachments will be subject to all other provisions
of this Agreement, except that Licensee shall owe no Rental Fees for such Vertical

Attachments.

c) Licensee and Electric Provider shall each place, Transfer and rearrange its own
Attachments and shall place guys and anchors to sustain any unbalanced loads caused
by its Attachments. Anchors and guys shall be in place and in effect prior to the
installation of Attachments and cables. Each Party shall, with due diligence, attempt
at all times to execute such work promptly and in such manner as not to interfere with
the service of the other Party.



d) The cost of making Attachments on existing Poles as provided herein, including the
making of any necessary Pole replacements, shall be borne by the Parties hereto in the
manner provided in Article 7.

e) Licensee’s Attachment shall automatically be continued under the terms of this
Agreement if any one of the following circumstances applies:

(i) Licensee’s Attachment was licensed under the terms of a prior pole attachment
agreement; or

(i1) Licensee had Attachments on the Pole either licensed or unlicensed as of the
Effective Date;

f) This Agreement shall be deemed as settlement with respect to unpaid amounts owed to
Electric Provider under prior pole attachment agreements or liability of the Licensee
for trespass, unjust enrichment or other actions in law or equity by Electric Provider
for unlicensed Pole Attachments or safety or other code violations, except that Licensee
shall correct any non-compliance with the Specifications, as applicable and as provided
herein.

ARTICLE S - RIGHT OF WAY FOR LICENSEE'S ATTACHMENTS

While the Electric Provider and Licensee will cooperate as far as may be practicable in obtaining
right-of-way for both parties on Licensed Poles, the Electric Provider does not warrant or assure
to the Licensee any right-of-way privileges or easements on, over or across streets, alleys and
public thoroughfares, and private or publicly owned property, and if the Licensee shall at any time
be prevented from placing or maintaining its Attachments on the Electric Provider's Poles, no
liability on account thereof shall attach to the owner of the Poles.

Electric Provider shall maintain pole line right-of-way clearances according to Electric Provider’s
standard procedures, except with respect to Make Ready. Licensee is responsible for providing
right-of-way clearances outside of Electric Provider’s standard clearance practices at its own

expense.

ARTICLE 6 - MAINTENANCE OF POLES AND ATTACHMENTS

A. The Electric Provider shall maintain all Poles in a safe and serviceable condition
and in accordance with the Specifications, and shall replace, reinforce or repair Poles as they
become defective. Licensee acknowledges that Poles and related items carry hazardous voltages,
deteriorate over time and may contain various hazardous chemicals or properties. Licensee shall
instruct and equip its personnel, including its employees, contractors and other agents, of the
hazards associated with working on Electric Provider’s Poles, and Licensee will provide necessary
training and equipment for its representatives to safely execute their work on Electric Provider’s
Poles. Prior to working on a Pole, Licensee shall, through visual inspection and reasonable effort,
make an assessment that the pole is in safe working condition. If Licensee believes that a pole
contains non-compliant or unsafe conditions, Licensee shall promptly notify Electric Provider of
any existing substandard condition (i.e., physical, mechanical or electrical, etc.), that jeopardizes

10



either the general public or workman safety, and Electric Provider will cause the existing condition
to be promptly corrected. Licensee will insure that contractors will comply with provisions of this
Agreement. Electric Provider does not warrant, guarantee, or imply that any Pole abandoned by
Electric Provider possesses sufficient mechanical strength as required by or for any use of

Licensee.

B. When replacing a Pole carrying terminals of aerial cable, underground connection,
or transformer equipment, the new Pole shall be set in the same hole which the replaced Pole
occupied, or immediately adjacent, and in a manner to facilitate Transfer of Attachments, unless
special conditions make it desirable to set it in a different location. Replacement Poles where
risers (dips) are installed should be set as close as possible to the existing Pole. The Electric
Provider will make reasonable effort to conduct a joint field review or otherwise coordinate with
Licensee to determine the location of the proposed Pole. Reasonable effort will be made to
coordinate locations of risers and Service Drops with the locations of the power facilities serving

the customer.

C. Except during restoration efforts after natural disasters, such as a Force Majeure
events, whenever it is necessary to replace or relocate a Licensed Pole, the Electric Provider shall,
before making such replacement or relocation, give written notice thereof of not less than thirty
(30) days for five (5) poles or less and sixty (60) days for six (6) poles or more (except in case of
emergency, when verbal notice will be given and subsequently confirmed in writing) to the
Licensee, specifying in such notice the time of such proposed replacement or relocation, and the
Licensee shall at the time so specified Transfer its Attachments to the new or relocated Pole. On
highway relocation projects, the schedule for Transfers shall be consistent with the “utility
adjustment schedule” and any subsequent revisions or with any other schedule issued by the
appropriate authority governing a highway relocation project.

1. An alternate method of notification (as opposed to the above described
written method of notification) may be used when mutually agreed upon by both Parties.
The electronic notification system of Pole Transfer request, provided by the National Joint
Utilities Notification System (“NJUNS”), may be used as the notification required by this
article. As a prerequisite for use of this system, both Parties shall have and properly utilize
the necessary electronic equipment and correct NJUNS member codes as provided by each
Party to the other and as required by NJUNS for this system and mutually agree to its use
as a substitute for the written notice of Transfers required under this Article 6.

D. Transfer of Licensee’s Attachments by the Electric Provider shall be effected in
accordance with Schedule 1 hereof, as agreed to by the Parties.

E. Should the Licensee fail to Transfer its Attachments to the newly Licensed Pole
after the date specified for such Transfer of Attachments and after all third party and Electric
Provider responsible Transfers have been accomplished to the extent necessary for Licensee to
affect its facilities Transfer the parties will have the following rights, in addition to any other rights
and remedies available under this Agreement: The Licensee shall pay the Electric Provider the
following amounts until the Licensee has Transferred its Attachments and notified the Electric
Provider in writing or through NJUNS that the Transfer has been accomplished: (a) five dollars
($5) per Pole per calendar day beginning with the 61st day after the Licensee Transfer Date and



through and including the 240th calendar day after the Licensee Transfer Date, (b) ten dollars ($10)
per Pole per calendar day (instead of five dollars ($5)) beginning with the 241st calendar day after
the Licensee Transfer Date. In addition, the cost incurred by the Electric Provider to return to the
job site and remove the old Pole will be paid by the Licensee. Notwithstanding the above, Licensee’
shall not be subject to penalties where Electric Provider has not used the correct NJUNS member
code, as provided by the Licensee, to notify Licensee of the clearance to Transfer Attachments. In
cases of Transfer requests with incorrect NJUNS member codes, the Licensee shall make
reasonable efforts to route to the appropriate party. In the event the Licensee notifies the Electric
Provider that the Transfer has been accomplished and the Electric Provider returns to the job site
to remove the old Pole and discovers that the Transfer has not been made, then the Licensee will
pay the Electric Provider's cost of the trip to and from the job site. The intent of this paragraph is
to ensure timely Transfers and minimize situations of two (2) or more Poles needlessly remaining
at the same location for extended periods of time. Transfer penalties shall not apply during the
first six (6) months after the completion of the Initial Inventory.

ELECTRIC PROVIDER NJUNS CODE CTYGVL
LICENSEE NJUNS CODE CHC04

F. Each party shall at all times maintain all of its Attachments in accordance with the
Specifications in Article 3, except as provided in Article 8.

ARTICLE 7 - DIVISION OF COSTS

A. NEW POLES INSTALLED WHERE NONE CURRENTLY EXIST. Whenever
Electric Provider requires new Pole facilities within the Licensee’s service territory for any reason,
including an additional Pole line, an extension of an existing Pole line, or in connection with the
reconstruction of an existing Pole line, it shall make a best effort to notify Licensee to that effect
in writing (verbal notice subsequently confirmed in writing may be given in cases of emergency)
stating the proposed location of the new Pole. In the case of emergency, the Licensee will
preliminarily respond verbally on an expedited basis that it does or does not want to attach its
Attachments and will generally describe its planned Attachments. Within a reasonable period (not
to exceed fifteen (15) business days) after the receipt of such written notice, the Licensee shall
submit an Application. If Licensee chooses to attach to a newly installed Pole(s) and requires more
than the twelve inches (12”) of space on such pole, the Licensee shall pay the incremental cost of
the required new pole. If in connection with the construction of a Pole(s) the Licensee makes the
payment required by this paragraph, then the Licensee shall in the future be entitled to attach on
such Electric Provider’s Pole(s) even if the Pole(s) does not at that time become a Licensed Pole.

B. ADDITIONAL MID-SPAN POLE. A Pole, including all appurtenances or
fixtures, erected between Poles to provide sufficient clearance and furnish adequate strength to
support the circuits of both the Electric Provider and the Licensee, which would have been
unnecessary except solely due to Licensee’s use, shall be erected at the sole expense of the
Licensee, or in the case of multiple Licensees on the Licensed Pole, the cost shall be equally
divided among all Licensees or Joint Users requiring the mid-span Pole.

12



C. PAYMENTS DO NOT AFFECT OWNERSHIP. Any payments for Poles made
by the Licensee under any provisions of this Article shall not entitle the Licensee to the ownership
of any part of said Poles for which it has contributed in whole or in part.

D. REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING POLES. Where an existing Pole is replaced for
maintenance purposes, Electric Provider shall erect a Pole adequate for the existing Attachments
and Attachments for which Applications have been delivered, unless such Application is denied
in accordance herewith, and the Electric Provider will pay all the costs of installing the replacement
Pole. Licensee will pay to replace its existing Attachments. The replaced Pole shall be removed
and retained by Electric Provider.

1. A Pole larger than the existing Pole, which is installed to replace an existing
Pole, the extra height or strength of which is due wholly to the Electric Provider's
requirements , such as providing service, normal maintenance, or keeping the Electric
Provider's wires clear of trees, shall be erected at the sole expense of the Electric Provider.
The Electric Provider shall bear the full expense of replacing or Transferring all the Electric
Provider's Attachments, and the Licensee shall bear the full expense of replacing or
Transferring all the Licensee's Attachments.

2. For a Pole larger than the existing Pole, which is installed to replace an
existing Pole, the extra height or strength of which is due wholly to the Licensee's
requirements, including Licensee’s requirements as to keeping the Licensee's wires clear
of trees, the Licensee shall pay to the Electric Provider the Make Ready Cost of the new

Pole.

3. For a Pole larger than the existing Pole, which is installed to replace an
existing Pole, the extra height or strength of which is due wholly to a Joint User’s
requirements such as providing service, correcting a safety violation or keeping the Joint
User's wires clear of trees, the Joint User shall pay all of the Make Ready Cost of the new
Pole, including any costs associated with replacing or Transferring Licensee’s

Attachments.

4. Except as to existing contracts with Joint User, in the case of a Pole larger
than the existing Pole, which is installed to replace an existing Pole, the extra height or
strength which is due to the requirements of all parties on the pole, such as when the parties
share responsibility for correcting a safety violation, the difference between the Cost in
Place of such Pole and the Cost in Place of the existing Pole shall be shared equally by the
Licensee and the Electric Provider, and other third parties, if applicable, the rest of the cost
of erecting such Pole to be borne by the Electric Provider. The Electric Provider and
Licensee shall replace or Transfer all Attachments at their own expense.

E. RESPONSIBILITY FOR OWN ATTACHMENTS. Each party shall place,
maintain, rearrange, Transfer and remove its own Attachments at its own expense except as
otherwise expressly provided herein.

F. SERVICE DROPS. Where an existing Pole is replaced by a taller one to provide
the necessary clearance for the Licensee’s Service Drop, the Licensee shall pay to the Electric



Provider the installed cost of the new Pole plus the labor costs of replacing or Transferring of the
Attachments on the existing Pole and the cost to remove the existing Pole, minus any salvage value
to the Electric Provider.

G. PAYMENT BASIS. Payments made under the provisions of this Article may be
based on the estimated or Actual Cost as mutually agreed upon (including overhead) of making
such changes but in no event, however, shall either Party be required to pay for such changes more
than 120% of the Estimated Cost supplied by the other if such cost estimate shall have been
requested and furnished before the changes were made.

H. UTILITIES INSTALLING LARGER POLES FOR UTILITY’S FUTURE USE.
In the event the Electric Provider installs a Pole larger than is initially required for Electric
Provider’s and Licensee’s use in anticipation of Electric Provider’s future requirements or
additions, the additional space provided by Electric Provider shall be reserved for Electric
Provider’s sole use. Licensee may request documentation to validate the need for future space.

ARTICLE 8 - SAFETY INSPECTIONS

A. INSPECTION PERFORMANCE. Within a reasonable time, not to exceed two (2)
years after the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Parties shall jointly perform a safety
inspection to identify any safety violations of all parties on the Poles (“Initial Safety Inspection”),
including Electric Provider and Joint Users. Following the Initial Safety Inspection, and not more
than once every five (5) years thereafter, Electric Provider may perform periodic system-wide
safety inspections of Electric Provider Poles, including Licensee Attachments, upon six (6)
months’ advance written notice to Licensee. Such notice shall describe the scope of the inspection
and provide Licensee with an opportunity to participate.  Licensee and Electric Provider, and
other attachers to Licensed Poles, shall share equally in the Initial Safety Inspection cost whether
the Initial Inspection is performed by the Electric Provider or a third party contractor. In the event
the Initial Safety Inspection or any subsequent safety inspection is performed by a third party
contractor, the Licensee shall have the right to seek bids from third party contractors prior to the
inspection and propose such bids to Electric Provider. Electric Provider will not be required to
use any third party contractor proposed by the Licensee, provided that any third party contractor
used by the Electric Provider to perform any inspection shall charge no more than the lowest
qualified bid proposal (in Electric Provider’s reasonable discretion) provided by the Licensee. For
inspections performed after the Initial Inspection, Licensee will pay a pro-rata share of the Electric
Provider’s inspection costs and will incur its own costs to participate in such periodic safety
inspections. The Licensee’s pro-rata share of Electric Provider’s cost will be equal to the
percentage of the total violations caused by Licensee’s Attachments as identified during the
inspection.

B. CORRECTIONS. In the event any Licensee facilities are in violation of the
Specifications and such violation poses an imminent danger to persons or property and is
discovered (“Imminent Danger Violation”), Licensee shall correct such violation immediately.
Should Licensee fail to correct such Imminent Danger Violation after notice, the Electric Provider
may correct the Imminent Danger Violation and bill Licensee for the Actual Costs incurred.
Licensee shall not be subject to any safety violation penalties pursuant to the Initial Safety
Inspection provided that Licensee corrects any safety violation that is not an Imminent Danger



Violation (a “Non-Imminent Danger Violation”) discovered during the Initial Safety Inspection
within eighteen (18) months of the documentation and reporting of the unsafe conditions.
Following the Initial Safety Inspection, if any Attachment of the Licensee is found to be a Non-
Imminent Danger Violation of Article 3 herein, and Licensee has caused the violation, Licensee
shall have sixty (60) days to correct any such violation upon written notice from Electric Provider,
or within a longer, mutually agreed-to time frame if correction of the violation is not possible
within sixty (60) days, such extended time to be not more than an additional sixty (60) days.
Notwithstanding the foregoing grace periods, in the event Electric Provider or an Outside Party
prevents Licensee from correcting a Non-Imminent Danger Violation, the timeframe for correcting
such violation shall be extended to account for the time during which Licensee was unable to
correct the violation due to such Electric Provider or Outside Party’s action. Licensee will not be
responsible for the costs associated with violations caused by others. In all circumstances, all of
the Parties on the Pole will work together to maximize safety while minimizing the cost of
correcting any such deficiencies, but the Licensee shall be responsible for the full cost of any
necessary or appropriate corrective measures associated with violations caused by Licensee,
including removal and replacement of the Pole and all Transfers or other work incident thereto.
Licensee shall insure that its employees, agents, contractors or other Outside Parties, which
Licensee causes to work on Electric Provider Poles, will be notified of pending, unresolved Poles
requiring corrective actions prior to activities on such Poles, and Licensee shall not allow
unqualified or improperly equipped personnel to work on such Poles.

1. If any Attachment of the Electric Provider is found to be in violation of
Specifications and Electric Provider has caused the violation, then the parties will work
together to minimize the cost of correcting any such deficiencies, but the Electric Provider
shall be responsible for the full cost of any necessary or appropriate corrective measures,
including removal and replacement of the Pole and all Transfers or other work incident

thereto.

2. If one or more Outside Party’s Attachment caused the violation, then such Outside
Party shall pay the corrective costs incurred by all who have Attachments on the Pole,
including for the Licensee, Electric Provider and any other attachers; and the Electric
Provider will make reasonable effort to cause the Outside Party to make such payment.

3. If there exists a violation of Specifications and it cannot be determined which party
on the Pole, including Joint User, caused such violation or there is a mixture of the parties
causing the violation, then the parties will work together to minimize the cost of correcting
any such deficiencies, and all parties and Outside Parties who may have caused such
violation will share equally in such costs; provided, however, that if a Party can modify its
Attachments so that they no longer may be a cause of the violation or deficiency, then such
Party may elect to make such modification instead of otherwise sharing in such costs. Such
a modification shall not relieve a Party from sharing in such costs if the Party making the
modification could have been a cause of any deficiency that remains.

C. PENALTIES. Electric Provider may impose a penalty in the amount of one hundred
($100) dollars for any violation caused by the Licensee that is not corrected within the applicable
time period after written notice from the Electric Provider or within the alternative time-period
agreed to by the Parties. In the event an Imminent Danger Violation is discovered, Licensee shall



correct such violation immediately, and, in any case, in no more than twenty-four (24) hours,
except as otherwise agreed to by the Parties. Should Licensee fail to correct such Imminent Danger
Violation within twenty-four (24) hours after notice or such alternative time period, the Electric
Provider may correct the violation and bill Licensee for the Actual Costs incurred.

ARTICLE 9 - UNAUTHORIZED ATTACHMENTS

Except in the case of Service Drops, if any Attachment or Overlashing made after the Initial
Inventory, as described in Article 11, is identified for which the Application requirements (as set
forth herein), or notification requirements as provided for in Article 4, have not been satisfied
(“Unauthorized Attachment”), then the Licensee shall pay to the Electric Provider a one-time fee
of five hundred dollars ($500) per Unauthorized Attachment. No Unauthorized Attachment Fee
shall apply to Service Drops. Licensee shall also correct any safety violations caused by Service
Drop Attachments and the Unauthorized Attachment.

ARTICLE 10 - ABANDONMENT OF LICENSED POLES

A. To the extent permitted by law, if the Electric Provider desires at any time to
abandon any Licensed Pole, it shall, except in the event of required Transfers as provided in Article
6, give the Licensee notice in writing to that effect at least sixty (60) days prior to the date on
which it intends to abandon such Pole. If, at the expiration of sixty (60) days, the Electric Provider
shall have no Attachments thereon, but Licensee has not removed its Attachments, such Pole shall
thereupon become the property of the Licensee, as is, and the Licensee shall save harmless the
Electric Provider from all obligation, liability, damages, cost, expenses or charges incurred
thereafter, and not arising out of anything occurring prior to the transfer of ownership. Electric
Provider shall further evidence transfer of title to the Pole by appropriate means. Credit shall be
allowed for any payments which the Licensee may have made under the provisions of Article 7
when the Pole was originally set, provided the Licensee furnishes proof of such payment.

B. The Licensee may at any time abandon a Licensed Pole by removing any and all
Attachments it may have thereon and by giving written notice thereof.

ARTICLE 11 - POLE ATTACHMENT RENTAL FEES

A. The Parties intend that the Initial Inventory shall commence within one year of the
Effective Date of the Agreement. Additionally, not more often than once every five (5) years after
the Initial Inventory, unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties, subsequent inventories of
Attachments shall be made by representatives of the parties to determine the number of Licensee’s
Attachments to Electric Provider Poles (“Actual Inventory”). Electric Provider shall provide three
(3) months’ advance written notice prior to the Initial Inventory and any subsequent Actual
Inventory describing the scope of the Inventories so that Licensee may plan and fully participate
in and budget for such Inventories. In addition, Licensee shall have the right to seek bids from
third party contractors for any such Inventories and propose such bids to Electric Provider. Electric
Provider will not be required to use any third party contractor proposed by the Licensee, provided
that any third party contractor used by the Electric Provider to perform any Inventory shall charge
no more than the lowest qualified bid proposal (in Electric Provider’s reasonable discretion)
provided by the Licensee.

16



B. Unless prevented by the provisions of a third party agreement, Actual Inventories
and Initial Inventories shall include all Outside Parties attached to Electric Provider’s Poles. Where
multiple Outside Parties are included in the inventory, all participating Outside Parties shall incur
a prorated share of the cost of performing the Actual Inventory, based on the number of
Attachments each attacher has on Electric Provider’s Poles. For a year in which there is no Actual
Inventory, the number of Licensee’s Attachments used in calculating the Rental Fees shall be based
on (i) twice the number of new Licensee Attachments that Licensee has placed during the prior
year (once for the year installed and once for the year of invoice period), (ii) the number of
Licensee Attachments for which Licensee was charged in the previous year, and (iii) an Annual
Adjustment Factor for Service Drops (the “Annual Adjustment Factor”). For the first five (5) years
of the Agreement, the Annual Adjustment Factor shall be 2% of the Attachments billed in the prior
year (prior year’s Attachments times 102%). After subsequent Actual Inventories, the Annual
Adjustment Factor shall be recalculated to reflect the average number of Service Drops installed

since the last inventory.

C. For a year for which there is an Actual Inventory, the Rental Fees provided for
herein shall be based on the Actual Inventory and the following adjustments shall be made:

1. The difference between the number of Licensee Attachments found by the
Actual Inventory for the year in question and the number of Attachments for which
Licensee was most recently invoiced for Pole Attachment Rental Fees shall be prorated
evenly based on the assumption that such Licensee Attachments were added evenly over
the period since the last Actual Inventory.

2. If the number of Licensed Attachments in the previous annual rental invoice
is less than the number of Licensed Attachments found by the Actual Inventory, then
Licensee shall be entitled to a pro-rata refund from the Electric Provider or a credit to the

Licensee.

3. In accordance with Article 11, the Initial Inventory pole count shall
establish a baseline number of Poles to which Licensee is attached with the Licensee having
no liability for any back rent or other fees that might be assessed by the Electric Provider.

D. The applicable computation of payments and calculations as above provided shall
be made on or about December st of each year for the next year’s Rental Fees, each Party acting
in cooperation with the other.

E. Pole Attachment Rental Fees due from Licensee to Electric Provider shall be as
indicated in Schedule 2.  The undisputed Pole Attachment Rental Fee herein provided shall be
paid by Licensee within forty-five (45) days after Licensee’s receipt of the invoice.

- F. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Rental Fees, and some of the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, are the result of a settlement between the Parties for the period prior
to the Effective Date. These rates are not necessarily a reflection of the actual costs of the Parties.

G. SPECIFIC RENTAL RATES. See Schedule 2.

17



ARTICLE 12 - DEFAULTS

A. In the event either Party deems an event of default has taken place and prior to
engaging in the formal default provisions in this Agreement, the appropriate representatives of the
Licensee and Electric Provider, as identified in Article 18, shall meet in person or on the telephone
to attempt to resolve the matter in good faith within ten (10) business days of the initial request of

either Party to meet.

B. In the absence of resolution of the matter in accordance with Article 12.A., the
aggrieved Party may provide a notice of default to the other Party in writing.  Upon receipt of
such notice of default, the defaulting Party shall either work diligently and cooperatively with the
non-defaulting Party to correct such default or present sufficient evidence that a default does not
exist or is not the fault of the defaulting Party. If such default shall continue for a period of forty-
five (45) days after such notices, either Party may, at its sole discretion and option, terminate this
Agreement, or, if Licensee is the defaulting Party, deny future Attachments and/or remove the
Attachments of Licensee at Licensee's expense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the cure periods
may be extended upon mutual agreement of the Parties if a cure is not reasonably possible within
the time frames specified above.

C. Without limiting the effect of the immediately preceding paragraph, if after
reasonable notice, Licensee shall default in the performance of any work it is obligated to do under
this Agreement, the Electric Provider may elect to do such work, and the Licensee shall reimburse
the Electric Provider for the cost thereof. Electric Provider shall notify the Licensee in advance of
its intent to do the work and the approximate cost of doing such work. Failure on the part of the
Licensee to make such a payment, as set forth in Article 17 herein, shall, at the election of the
Electric Provider, constitute a default under Section B of this Article 12.

ARTICLE 13 - RIGHTS OF OTHER PARTIES

A. If Electric Provider, prior to the execution of this Agreement, received or conferred
upon others, not parties of this Agreement (“Outside Parties™), by contract or otherwise, rights or
privileges to attach to, and/or reserve space on any of its Poles covered by this Agreement, nothing
herein contained shall be construed as affecting said rights or privileges with respect to existing
Attachments of such Outside Parties, which Attachments shall continue in accordance with the
present practice. All future Attachments of such Outside Parties shall be in accordance with the
requirements of the following paragraph, except where such Outside Parties have, by agreements
entered into prior to the execution of this Agreement, acquired enforceable rights or privileges to
make Attachments which do not meet such space allocations. Electric Provider shall derive all of
the revenue accruing from such Outside Parties. Any contractual rights or privileges of Outside
Parties recognized in this paragraph shall include renewals of or extensions of the term (period) of

such contracts.

B. In the event any Pole or Poles of Electric Provider to which Licensee has made its
Attachments would, but for the Attachments of Licensee, be adequate to support additional
facilities desired by Electric Provider, Electric Provider’s subsidiary or affiliate, or by a Joint User
with whom Electric Provider has a prior agreement and which Joint User is either occupying space
or has requested to attach or reserve space on such Pole(s) prior to the placement of Licensee’s

18



Attachment on such Pole(s), then Electric Provider shall notify Licensee of any changes necessary
to provide an adequate Pole or Poles and Electric Provider or Joint User will reimburse Licensee
for the costs thereof. Should Licensee submit a request to make a new Attachment on a Pole that
a Joint User is not already attached to but on which the Joint User has reserved space, Electric
Provider will provide notice of such space reservation to Licensee, provided that Electric Provider
has such knowledge on or prior to the date of Licensee’s Attachment request.

C. If Electric Provider desires to confer upon Outside Parties, by contract or otherwise,
rights or privileges to attach to any of its Poles covered by this Agreement, it shall have the right
to do so, provided all Attachments of such Outside Parties are made in accordance with the
following: (1) such Attachments shall be maintained in conformity with the requirements of
Specifications, and (2) such Attachments shall not be located within the space allocation of
Licensee. Electric Provider shall derive all of the revenue accruing from such QOutside Parties.

D. Except as to Joint Users already attached to Electric Provider’s Poles, for any rights
and privileges granted under this Article to Outside Parties, Electric Provider shall make good faith
efforts to have the Licensee paid by an Outside Party in connection with Outside Party Make
Ready.

E. Except as to Joint Users already attached to Electric Provider’s Poles, in no event
will Licensee be responsible for any Make Ready costs incurred for the benefit of an Outside Party,
and such costs shall immediately be reimbursed to Licensee from such Outside Party.

F. The Electric Provider will make good faith efforts to have the Licensee paid by an
Outside Party in connection with Outside Party Make Ready.

ARTICLE 14 - ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS

The rights conferred by this Agreement may be transferred by the Licensee to any successor
in interest that has or is contemporaneously granted a franchise by the applicable franchise
authority upon written notice to the Electric Provider. Except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, including the immediately prior sentence, Licensee shall not assign or otherwise
dispose of this Agreement or any of its rights or interests hereunder, or in any of the Licensed
Poles, or the Attachments or rights-of-way covered by this Agreement, to any firm, corporation or
individual, without the written consent of the Electric Provider, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, except to the United States of America or any agency thereof;
provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall prevent or limit the Licensee’s right to
mortgage any or all of its property, rights, privileges, and franchises, or lease or transfer any of
them to another corporation organized for the purpose of conducting a business of the same general
character, or to enter into any merger or consolidation; and, in case of the foreclosure of such
mortgage or in case of lease, transfer, merger, or consolidation, its rights and obligations hereunder
shall pass to, and be acquired and assumed by, the purchaser at foreclosure, the transferee, lessee,
assignee, merging or consolidating company, as the case may be; and provided further that, subject
to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Licensee may permit any corporation
conducting a business of the same general character as that of such Party, and owned, operated,
leased and controlled by it, the use of all or any part of the space reserved hereunder on any Pole
covered by this Agreement for the Attachments used by such Party in the conduct of its said

19



business; and for the purpose of this Agreement, all such Attachments maintained on any such
Pole by the permission as aforesaid of Licensee shall be considered as the Attachments of Licensee
and the rights, obligations and liabilities of such Party under this Agreement, with respect to such
Attachments, shall be the same as if it were the actual owner thereof.

ARTICLE 15 - WAIVER OF TERMS OR CONDITIONS

The failure of either Party to enforce or insist upon compliance with any of the terms or
conditions of this Agreement shall not constitute a general waiver or relinquishment of any such
terms or conditions, but the same shall be and remain at all times in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 16 - PAYMENT OF TAXES

Each Party shall pay dll taxes and assessments lawfully levied on its own property upon
said Licensed Poles, and the taxes and the assessments which are levied on said Licensed Poles
shall be paid by the owner thereof, but any tax, fee, or charge levied on Electric Provider's Poles
solely because of their use by the Licensee shall be paid by the Licensee, except for any such tax,
fee, or charge levied by Electric Provider, excluding () any tax, fee, or charge hereunder or any
business use tax related to franchise or franchise agreement.

ARTICLE 17 - BILLS AND PAYMENT FOR WORK

A. Upon the completion of work performed hereunder by either Party, the expense of
which is to be borne wholly or in part by the other Party, the Party performing the work shall
present to the other Party within ninety (90) days after the completion of such work an itemized
statement of the costs, and such other Party shall, within forty-five (45) days after such statement
is presented, pay to the Party doing the work such other Party's proportion of the cost of said work.

B. All amounts to be paid by either Party under this Agreement shall be due and
payable within forty-five (45) days after receipt of an itemized invoice. Except as provided in
Article 17.C below, any payment not made within forty-five (45) days from the due date shall bear
interest at the rate of 1.5% per month until paid, or if 1.5% exceeds the maximum rate allowed by
law, then at the maximum rate allowed by law. If a Party bills the interest provided for in this
paragraph but then receives a payment showing that the payment was timely made, the billing
Party will write off and cancel the interest.

C. A Party receiving a bill may, in good faith and for good cause, dispute the amount
or adequacy of substantiation for the bill. In the event that a Party so disputes only a portion of a
bill, then such Party shall promptly pay the undisputed amount. In the event of such dispute, the
Parties shall meet, by telephone or in person, within ten (10) business days of a dispute being raised
to discuss the disputed item and establish a procedure for addressing the disputed amount in
accordance with this Agreement. Upon resolution of the dispute, if the amount and substantiation
were correct and sufficient, interest will be paid on the unpaid balance from the date of the initial
bill at the rate of 1.5% per month until paid, or if 1.5% exceeds the maximum rate allowed by law,
then at the maximum rate allowed by law; but, if the amount was not correct or substantiation was
not sufficient, no interest will be payable unless the amount determined to be correct is not paid
within forty-five (45) days of receipt of substantiation and determination of the correct amount.

20



D. Except as to the rental fees, the fees specified in this Agreement shall be subject to
an annual adjustment equal to the change in the most recent twelve month’s Handy Whitman Index
for the South Atlantic Region, Account 364, Poles, Towers and Fixtures.

ARTICLE 18 - NOTICES

A. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices and writings shall be
made to the following people (“Contact Person(s)”), who from time to time may be changed by
written notice:

Licensee Contact Information:

Name

Title: Construction Manager

Company Spectrum Southeast, LLC

Address 123 Lagrange Street, Grantville, GA 30220
Phone Number

Email Address

For annual pole attachment rental invoices:
Charter Communications C/O TEOCO
Attn: MS-CCF
12150 Monument Drive, STE 700
Fairfax, VA 22033

Electric Provider Contact Information:
Name Al Grieshaber
Title City Manager
Company City of Grantville
Address PO Box 160
Grantville, GA 30220
Phone Number 770.583.2289
Email Address

With a Copy to

Electric Cities of Georgia
Attn: Pole Attachment Service
1470 Riveredge Parkway NW
Atlanta, GA 30328

pas@ecoga.org

All Applications and payments hereunder to Electric Provider hereunder shall be made to the
following, who from time to time may be changed by written notice:

Electric Provider Contact Information:

21



Name Al Grieshaber

Title City Manager
Company City of Grantville
Address PO Box 160
Grantville, GA 30220

Phone Number 770.583.2289
Email Address

With a Copy to

Electric Cities of Georgia
Attn: Pole Attachment Service
1470 Riveredge Parkway NW
Atlanta, GA 30328

pas@ecoga.org

A. By written notice pursuant hereto, a Party may from time to time specify a person in lieu
of the person designated in Section A above to receive notices or writings with respect
to specified matter(s) and/or geographic area(s), in which case such notices or writings
shall be sent to that person as to such matter(s) and area(s).

B. Response to any notice or Application shall be made to the sender rather than to the
person designated in Section A or B above.

C. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, any notice shall be in writing, which may,
when mutually agreeable, include preservable and traceable electronic means, such as
email.

D. A second copy of any notice given under Article 12 or Article 20 of Agreement, shall
be given to the following persons, who may from time to time be changed by written
notice:

Licensee: For Legal Notices

Name

Title

Company Charter Communications

Address Legal — Operations
12405 Powerscourt Drive
St. Louis, MO 63131

Phone Number
Email Address

22



Electric Provider:
Name Al Grieshaber
Title City Manager
Company City of Grantville
Address PO Box 160
Grantville, GA 30220
Phone Number 770.583.2289
Email Address

With a Copy to

Electric Cities of Georgia
Attn: Pole Attachment Service
1470 Riveredge Parkway NW
Atlanta, GA 30328

pas@ecoga.org

E. The Parties will develop and maintain a joint form designating the people to whom
notices shall be given pursuant to the foregoing.

Except as otherwise noted, all notices, requests, demands and other communications
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally with a receipt evidencing
delivery, sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, or sent by email (delivery receipt
requested), in each case addressed to the appropriate Party at the address for such Party
shown above or at such other address as such Party shall have previously designated by
written notice delivered to the Party giving such notice. Except as otherwise permitted,
any notice given in accordance herewith shall be deemed to have been given and received
when delivered to the addressee, which delivery may be evidenced by (i) signed receipt of
the addressee given to the courier or postal service, or (ii) by confirmed electronic means
as provided in the following sentence, as the case may be. Notice by electronic means shall
be deemed given and received upon transmission by the notifier of an electronic mail
address set forth above or designated pursuant to this Section, with confirmation on the
sender’s computer of the success of electronic transmission, as applicable.

ARTICLE 19 - RESOLUTION OF CERTAIN DISPUTES

A. In the event of a dispute regarding any compliance or non-compliance with the
provisions of Article 3 of this Agreement, including which Party is responsible for any non-
compliance and what corrective action, if any, is necessary or appropriate to remedy any such non-
compliance, then the Parties shall each arrange for a representative to make a joint field visit to the
Pole location to investigate whether a violation exists and if so, any corrective action needed and
the Party or Parties responsible. The Parties will make a diligent and good faith effort to resolve
such disputes at the local level by the Parties’ respective local engineers and local managers.

23



B. If the Parties are unable to resolve any such dispute at the local level, then either
Party may submit the matter for resolution to a “Referee,” as defined below, for binding resolution.
A matter will be submitted to the Referee by sending a letter (by mail, hand-delivery or email) to
the Referee, with a copy provided to the other Party’s representative who was involved in the
attempt to resolve the dispute and the other Party’s representative designated pursuant to Article
18.A or Article 18.B before or concurrently with the transmission of the letter to the Referee. The
letter will include a summary of the dispute and will designate the Party’s Contact Person for the
dispute. The other Party will promptly respond with a letter similarly sent and copied that provides
such Party’s summary of the dispute and designates such Party’s Contact Person for the dispute.

C. If the Parties mutually agree to do so, instead of proceeding under Section B above,
the Parties may submit any dispute to the Referee by jointly sending the Referee a letter that
includes a summary of the dispute and designates each Party’s Contact Person for the dispute.

D. The Referee will make such investigation as deemed appropriate in his or her
discretion, which will include hearing from each Party’s Contact Person. The Referee may, but is
not required to, engage in such other procedures or hearing as the Referee deems appropriate. The
Parties will cooperate with the Referee.

E. The Referee will promptly issue a binding decision (to the extent permitted by law)
in writing to the Parties, from which there will be no appeal. The Party whose position is not
upheld by the Referee (which determination may be made by the Referee if requested to do so)
will be required to pay for the Referee’s fees and expenses. If both Parties’ positions are upheld
in part, they will share the Referee’s fees and expenses equally. The Parties agree to be bound to
pay the Referee’s fees and expenses as provided herein.

F. The Referee will be appointed as follows:

L. Each Party will appoint an outside engineer and these two (2)
engineers will appoint a third outside engineer or other qualified person (the
“Referee”) to serve as the Referee.

2. In the event that the two (2) engineers so appointed are unable within
fourteen (14) days to agree upon a third outside engineer or other qualified person
who is willing and able to serve as the Referee, then the Referee will be appointed
as follows: Three (3) names will be blindly drawn from the list of persons then
comprising the NESC committee whose work is most closely related to the dispute
(e.g., Clearances Committee or Strength and Loading Committee), or such other
group as may be mutually agreed upon. Each Party will strike one such name and
the remaining person will serve as the Referee. If the Parties strike the same name,
then the Referee will be selected from the remaining two (2) names by coin toss. If
the NESC committee member so selected is unwilling or unable to serve as Referee,
then this procedure will be repeated (starting with the blind drawing of three
different names as provided above) as necessary until a Referee is selected who is
willing and able to serve as Referee. If all committee member names of the NESC
committee first selected are exhausted without a Referee being appointed who is
willing and able to serve as Referee, then the Parties will repeat the above-described

24



procedure with the next NESC committee whose work is most closely related to
the dispute, and so on until a Referee is selected who is willing and able to serve as
Referee.

G. Nothing herein shall preclude the Parties from entering into any other mutually
agreeable dispute resolution procedure or from changing by mutual written agreement any aspect
of the foregoing procedure. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Parties may by
mutual written agreement remove, replace or appoint a Referee at any time.

H. The Parties agree, that if any dispute or problem in connection with the
administration of this Agreement cannot be resolved at lower levels, communications between the
following will be permitted and engaged in, in good faith on an expedited basis: Between a
responsible senior officer with settlement authority of Electric Provider and a responsible senior
officer with settlement authority of Licensee; and, if not resolved by them, between such persons’
superiors, if any. If either Electric Provider or Licensee reorganizes or changes titles, the
equivalent person for such Party shall perform the above functions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, neither Party shall be precluded from seeking any other available legal remedy at any
time.

ARTICLE 20 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

A. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for twelve (12) years from
the Effective Date (Initial Term), and shall automatically renew thereafter for successive one (1)
year terms (Renewal Term) unless terminated in accordance herewith. Either Party may terminate
the Agreement by giving to the other Party six (6) months’ notice in writing of intention to
terminate the Agreement six (6) months prior to the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for all
existing Attachments during any negotiations of the Parties for a subsequent agreement.

B. Upon final termination of this Agreement in accordance with any of its terms,
Licensee shall, within one-hundred eighty (180) days, remove all its Attachments from all Poles.
If not so removed, Electric Provider shall have the right to remove and dispose of all of Licensee’s
Attachments without any liability or accounting therefore. Licensee shall reimburse Electric
Provider for any and all costs incurred by Electric Provider in the removal of Licensee’s
Attachments as detailed above. In the event that Licensee has not reimbursed Electric Provider
within forty-five (45) days of invoicing following Electric Provider’s removal of said Attachments,
then Electric Provider may pursue one or more of the remedies contained in Article 12, including
making demand on the Security Instrument described in Article 23.

C. Termination of this Agreement shall not relieve either Party from fulfilling any and
all of its obligations that accrued while the Agreement was in effect.

D. During the term of this Agreement or upon termination of this Agreement, each
Party shall have reasonable access to those portions of the other Party’s books, construction
standards, and records, as may be necessary to resolve a material issue or concern regarding the
other Party’s compliance with its obligations under this Agreement. Such access will be granted
upon reasonable notice and only during regular business hours.

25



ARTICLE 21 - EXISTING CONTRACTS

All existing joint use or pole attachment license agreements between the Parties, and all
amendments thereto are by mutual consent hereby abrogated and superseded by this Agreement
except with respect to amounts owed, late payment penalties and interest and remedies available
for collection of such amounts by either party under any such existing agreements.

Nothing in the foregoing shall preclude the Parties to this Agreement from entering such
supplemental operating routines or working practices as they mutually agree in writing to be
necessary or desirable to effectively administer the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 22 - ELECTRIC PROVIDER SYSTEM FINANCING OR SALE OF SYSTEM

This Agreement and any amendment thereof shall be effective subject to the condition that,
during any period in which the Electric Provider has outstanding debt or other financing
obligations respecting its Poles or its electric distribution system, this Agreement shall be subject
to the terms and conditions related to such financing. Electric Provider, without the consent of the
Licensee, may enter into or issue debt or other financing obligations from time to time related to
its Poles or its electric distribution system with terms and conditions, including covenants that
affect Licensee’s rights hereunder, that are reasonably required by the counterpartics to such
transactions or the purchasers of such debt or other financing obligations. Electric Provider,
without the consent of the Licensee, may at any time sell or otherwise transfer ownership of all or
any part of its Pole or electric distribution system, and in conjunction therewith, may terminate
this Agreement or assign it to the purchaser or transferee in whole or in part.

ARTICLE 23 - LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

A. Except as set forth below, Licensee assumes sole responsibility for all injuries and
damages caused, or claimed to have been caused, by Licensee, its employees, agents,
representatives or contractors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensee shall have no liability to
the Electric Provider for injuries and damages (a) caused by, through or as a result of the
negligence of the Electric Provider; (b) caused by, through or as a result of the wanton misconduct
of the Electric Provider; or (c) caused by, through or as a result of the facilities or activities of any
third party (or parties) attachers whose cables, wires, appliances, equipment or facilities are
attached to the same Poles as Licensee’s cables, wires, appliances, equipment or facilities.

B. Accordingly, without limiting the effect of the provision of the immediately
preceding paragraph, and except as set forth below, Licensee expressly agrees to indemnify,
defend and save harmless the Electric Provider, its governing body, officers, employees, agents,
representatives and contractors from all claims, demands, actions, judgments, loss, costs and
expenses (collectively, “Claims™) caused or claimed to have been caused by, Licensee, its
employees, agents, representatives or contractors, including with respect to (a) damage to or loss
of property (including but not limited to property of the Electric Provider or Licensee); (b) injuries
or death to persons (including but not limited to injury to or death of any Licensee employees,
contractors or agents, or members of the public); (c) any interference with the television or radio
reception of, or with the transmission or receipt of telecommunications by, any person which may
be occasioned by the installation or operation of Licensee’s cables, wires, appliances, equipment

26



or facilities; (d) any injuries sustained and/or occupational diseases contracted by any of the
Licensee’s employees, contractors or agents of such nature and arising under such circumstances
as to create liability therefore by Licensee or the Electric Provider under any applicable Worker’s
Compensation law, including also all claims and causes of actions of any character which any such
contractors, employees, the employers of such employees or contractors, and all persons or
concerns claiming by, under or through them or either of them may have or claim to have against
the Electric Provider resulting from or in any manner growing out of any such injuries sustained
or occupational diseases contracted; it being understood, however, that Licensee shall have no
liability to the Electric Provider for injuries and damages (a) caused by, through or as a result of
the negligence of the Electric Provider; (b) caused by, through or as a result of the wanton
misconduct of the Electric Provider; or (c) caused by, through or as a result of the facilities or
activities of any third party (or parties) whose cables, wires, or facilities are attached to the same
Poles as Licensee’s cables, wires, or facilities. In any matter in which Licensee shall be required
to indemnify the Electric Provider hereunder, Licensee shall control the defense of such matter in
all respects, and the Electric Provider may participate, at its sole cost, in such defense. The Electric
Provider shall not settle or compromise any matter in which Licensee is required to indemnify the
Electric Provider without the prior consent of Licensee.

C. To the extent permitted by law, the Electric Provider agrees to assume liability and
be responsible for the payment of any sum or sums of money to any persons whomsoever on
account of any Claims arising or claimed to have arisen by, through or as a result of the Electric
Provider’s negligent acts or omissions or the Electric Provider’s intentional or wanton misconduct.
Electric Provider shall have no liability to the Licensee for injuries and damages (a) caused by,
through or as a result of the negligence of the Licensee or its contractors or agents; or (b) caused
through or as a result of the wanton misconduct of the Licensee or any of its contractors, agents,
representatives or assignees. Nothing contained herein shall constitute a waiver of the defense of
sovereign immunity in favor of the Electric Provider.

D. Insurance. In the event Licensee’s franchise agreement requires Licensee to insure
the franchise authority, the Insurance requirements set forth in Article 23.E herein shall not apply

to Licensee.

E. In the event Licensee is not required to insure the franchise authority, pursuant to
the franchise agreement, Licensee, and any contractors of Licensee, shall contract for and maintain
in effect throughout the period during which Licensee maintains Attachments on any Poles
insurance that meets or exceeds the amounts set forth in subsections (1) through (3) below. Failure
to provide and maintain the required insurance coverage shall constitute a Default under this
Agreement, in which event Electric Provider shall have the right to pursue any and all of remedies
set forth in this Agreement.

L. Worker’s Compensation insurance, with minimum limits of
$1,000,000, covering all employees of Licensee who shall perform any work on
Poles or property owned or controlled by Electric Provider, including easements
and rights-of-way, whether or not such insurance is required by law. If any
employee is not subject to the Worker’s Compensation laws of the state wherein
work 1s performed, Licensee shall extend said insurance to such employee as
though said employee were subject to such laws.

27



F.

2. Commercial general liability insurance covering all operations
under this Agreement, including erection, installation, maintenance,
Rearrangement and removal of Licensee’s Attachments, in an amount for bodily
injury of not less than $2,000,000 for one person and $2,000,000 for each accident
or occurrence and for property damage of not less than $2,000,000 for each accident
or occurrence.

3. Automobile liability insurance on all self-propelled vehicles which
may be used in connection with this Agreement, whether owned, non-owned, or
hired, in an amount for bodily injury of not less than $1,000,000 for one person and
$1,000,000 for each accident or occurrence and for property damage of not less
than $1,000,000 for each accident or occurrence.

4. The policies required hereunder shall be in such form and issued by
such carrier as shall be reasonably acceptable to Electric Provider.

a. Electric Provider, its governing body, officers, employees,
and agents shall be shown as additional insured on each policy only with
respect to liability arising from Licensee’s operation in conjunction with
this Agreement; and

b. Licensee agrees to release and will require its insurers (by
policy endorsement) to waive their rights of subrogation against Electric
Provider, its governing body, officers, employees, and agents for loss under
the policies of insurance described herein; and

c. Each policy shall state that Electric Provider will be given
notice at least thirty (30) days before any such insurance shall lapse; and

d. Licensee shall furnish Electric Provider certificates
evidencing such insurance within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of
this Agreement and shall provide Electric Provider with copies of any
renewal certificates promptly after they become available.

5. Notwithstanding the above, if Licensee is authorized to operate as a
self-insured entity under the laws of the State of Georgia, Licensee may provide
self-insurance to meet the requirements of this Article 23.E, upon terms and
conditions satisfactory to Electric Provider.

SECURITY INSTRUMENT. Licensee shall furnish and maintain throughout the

term of this Agreement, and thereafter until all of the obligations of Licensee have been fully
performed, a bond or other security instrument (“Security Instrument”) satisfactory in form and
content to Electric Provider in substitution therefore, to guarantee the payment of any sums which
may become due to Electric Provider or an Electric Provider Agent for Pole Attachment Rental
Fees, inspections, inventories, Make Ready Costs, Unauthorized Attachment Fees, for work
performed for the benefit of Licensee under this Agreement, including the removal of Attachments
upon termination of this Agreement, for any expense that may be incurred by Electric Provider or
an Electric Provider agent because of any Default of Licensee, or for any other expense that is to

28



be borne by Licensee under this Agreement. The amount of said Security Instrument, which
amount shall be maintained throughout the term of the Agreement and thereafter until all of the
obligations of Licensee have been fully performed, shall be equal to ten thousand US dollars
($10,000), or twenty-five dollars ($25) per Attachment, whichever is larger. The amount of the
Security Instrument may, in Electric Provider’s discretion, be adjusted if Licensee purchases,
acquires, or obtains a controlling interest in additional broadband or other facilities within Electric
Provider’s service territory not currently covered by this Agreement which results in a significant
increase in the number of Attachments. Any such adjustment shall not exceed twenty-five dollars
(325) per new Attachment. Failure to provide and maintain the aforementioned Security
Instrument shall be deemed a Default under this Agreement, in which event Electric Provider shall
have the right to pursue any and all remedies set forth in this Agreement and at law or equity. The
furnishing of such Security Instrument shall not affect, limit, diminish or otherwise reduce any
obligations of Licensee under this Agreement.

G. Following the completion of the Initial Safety Inspection, the correction of the
identified violations, and if the Licensee is in material compliance with all other terms and
conditions of the Agreement, the amount of the Security Instrument shall be adjusted annually to
an amount not to exceed the last annual Pole rental invoice received by the Licensee.

ARTICLE 24 - CONSTRUCTION

This Agreement was drafted by all Parties hereto and is not to be construed against any
party. Neither the negotiations of the language of this Agreement nor any prior drafts of this
Agreement or the inclusion or exclusion of any language from prior drafts shall be admissible or
probative as to the meaning of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 25 - REMEDIES CUMULATIVE

Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all remedies set forth in this Agreement are
cumulative and in addition to any other remedies that may be available herein or at law or in equity,
if any.

ARTICLE 26 - MISCELLANEOUS

A. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, and any
one of such counterparts shall be considered an original hereof.

B. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall for
any reason be held to be illegal or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is the intention
of each of the Parties hereto that such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision
hereof, but this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision
had not been contained herein, and this Agreement shall be construed to adopt, but not to enlarge
upon, all the applicable provisions of applicable law, and, if any provisions hereof conflict with
any provision of applicable law, the latter as in effect and as interpreted by the applicable courts
shall prevail in lieu of any provision hereof in conflict or not in harmony therewith.

29



C. Force Majeure. As used in this Agreement “Force Majeure Event” means any act
or event whether foreseen or unforeseen, that meets all of the following tests:

1. The act or event prevents a party (the “Nonperforming Party™), in
whole or in part, from performing its obligations under this Agreement or satisfying
any conditions to the other party’s obligations under this Agreement.

2. The act or event is beyond the reasonable control of and not the fault
of the Nonperforming Party. -
3. The Nonperforming Party has been unable to avoid or overcome the

act or event by the exercise of due diligence.

D. Despite the preceding definition of a Force Majeure Event, a Force Majeure Event
excludes economic hardship, changes in market conditions or insufficiency of funds.

E. In the event of a Force Majeure Event affecting Electric Provider’s Poles, the
Parties’ obligations hereunder are suspended for a period of time reasonably appropriate to the
Force Majeure Event to the extent performance hereunder adversely affected.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

30



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused these presents to be executed in two
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and their corporate seals to be affixed
thereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the Effective Date.

ELECTRIC PROVIDER
By: -
Name:
Its:
Attest:
By:
Its:
[SEAL]

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]

[Pole Attachment License Agreement For Distribution Poles]

31



LICENSEE
Spectrum Southeast, LLC
By: Charter Communications, Inc., its Manager

.\\“—:‘C&M(L%JQA\/
By: -

Name: \qen\§ BSNENRAL
Its: AN p

Vi 1lvy
By: fT /] / / )'_ ' ‘I' A —

Its; DMO(* g\ 2 193 I-N css {’/{-ﬂwl}?

[SEAL]

[Pole Attachment License Agreement For Distribution Poles]

32



APPENDIX A - ATTACHMENT REQUEST/OVERLASH NOTIFICATION FORM

Licensee hereby (1) requests permission pursuant to its Pole Attachment License Agreement to make new
Attachment(s) to Pole(s) or (2) notifies Electric Provider that Licensee intends to install Overlashing to
poles, all as shown on the attached construction plans and drawings. The attached plans and drawings show
the Pole(s) Licensee desires to attach to or overlash, the number and character of Attachments existing and
proposed, any Rearrangements requested with respect to existing Attachments, any relocations or
replacements of existing Poles requested, the heights of all points of attachment, all mid-span clearances,
and any new Pole placement requested. Should additional information be required by the Electric Provider
for verification of compliance with the NESC or other applicable standards, the Licensee will provide such
information. The table below provides detailed information regarding this request.

LICENSEE
Company Poles with Added
Project Attachments | Removed
Request # Overlashed
Request Date Estimated Start
Name Construction Completion
Dates

Signature Fees Application | $
Phone Inspection $

Design | $
Email Total '$

Please advise Licensee as to whether or not these Attachments will be permitted and if necessary provide
an estimate for any additional costs that Licensee may be required to pay as Make Ready Work. If Make
Ready Work is required, upon receipt of Electric Provider supplied Make Ready Estimate, the Licensee
shall provide notice to Electric Provider of either approval of the cost estimate or that Licensee will not
undertake to make these Attachments. Upon receipt by Electric Provider of Licensee’s notice of estimate

approval of Make Ready Costs, the Electric Provider will proceed with Make Ready Work.

ELECTRIC PROVIDER

Response Date | Electric Provider Make | Yes
Name ' Ready No

Construction Required?
Signature Electric Provider Make | $
Phone Ready

Construction Estimate

Permit #
Email
Request Approved Reason for
Response Denied Denial

Capitalized terms used in this request, but not defined, have the meaning set forth in the applicable Pole

Attachment License Agreement.

33




SCHEDULE 1

Transfer of Licensee’s Attachments by the Electric Provider

In any case where it is mutually beneficial and agreeable by both Parties, the Electric Provider or
its Contractors may Transfer the Attachments of the Licensee and the Licensee will reimburse the
Electric Provider such costs the Electric Provider incurs in making such Transfers on behalf of the
Licensee. When the Transfer can be accomplished concurrently with other work that the Electric
Provider is undertaking on the same Pole, the charges for such Transfers will be in accordance
with this Schedule 1; section Pricing for Transfers, or such other amounts as may be agreed to by
the Parties. The Electric Provider will use due diligence and care in making such Transfers so as
not to damage or cause a disruption in the services provided by the Licensee. However, except in
cases of gross negligence or willful misconduct, the Electric Provider shall not be liable for any
damages or disruptions in service that may occur as a result of Transfers made on behalf of the

Licensee.

Normally Scheduled Construction - Approval for such Transfers made by the Electric Provider
on behalf of the Licensee during normally scheduled construction shall be obtained prior to making
such Transfers and will be made on a project by project basis unless otherwise agreed upon.

Emergency Construction - In such cases, if in the judgment of Electric Provider, a Pole requires
immediate replacement due to a dangerous condition or conditions (in Electric Provider’s sole
judgment), the Electric Provider or its contractors will replace the Pole and may Transfer the
Licensee’s Attachments without prior permission. The Electric Provider shall use reasonable care
to avoid damage to Licensee’s facilities and shall notify the Licensee of such Transfer after work

is completed.

Facility Types To Be Transferred - The Electric Provider or its contractors will only Transfer
Attachments which require a bolt, clamp, or “J” hook either installed through the Pole or otherwise
attached. All service wire Attachments to a single “J” hook shall be Transferred at the rate stated
below. The hardware on the old Pole will be used to attach to the new Pole. The Electric Provider
or its contractors shall not supply any additional material in making Transfers of Licensee’s

Attachments.

Pricing for Transfers - When the Electric Provider Transfers the Attachments of the Licensee in
accordance with the above provisions, the price per Attachment will be based on actual cost of
Electric Provider or its contractor to perform the work. Multiple Attachment Transfers on a Pole
will be billed on a per Attachment basis, not on a per Pole basis.

Costs to Transfer Licensee’s Attachments Concurrently with Other Work by Electric Provider

Duration Cable Attachments Service Drop
Contract start date to termination Actual cost Actual Cost

To the extent permitted by law, should (i) the Electric Provider elect not to Transfer Licensee’s
facilitics under the above terms, and; (ii) Licensee fails to Transfer its Attachments to the new
Licensed Pole on the date specified for such Transfer of Attachments (“Licensee Transfer Date”)

34



and after all necessary third party and Electric Provider responsible Transfers have been
accomplished, the Electric Provider may elect to relinquish the ownership of the old Pole from
which it has removed its Attachments and all other Licensees and Joint Users, with the giving of
verbal notice to be subsequently followed in writing. If the Electric Provider so elects, such old
Pole shall, with the giving of ten (10) business days’ notice as provided for above, at no cost to the
Licensee, become the property of the Licensee, as is, and the Licensee shall save harmless the
Electric Provider from all obligations, liabilities, damages, costs, expenses or charges incurred
thereafter, and not arising out of anything theretofore occurring because of, or arising out of, the
presence or condition of such Pole or of any Attachments thereon. In instances where the Electric
Provider is the owner of such Pole, the unused portion of the Pole above the Licensee's
Attachments shall be cut off and removed by the Electric Provider before relinquishing ownership,
if the Pole remains in structural conflict with the power route.

35



SCHEDULE 2

ANNUAL RENTAL PER ATTACHMENT (or "RENTAL FEE")

Term Rental Fee Invoice Date
Jan. 1, 2024 — Dec. 31, 2024 $20.00 Dec. 1, 2024
Jan. 1, 2025 — Dec. 31, 2025 $20.00 Dec. 1, 2024

For years beginning 2024, the annual Rental Fee per Attachment shall be adjusted by applying
the annual change for account 364 for the South Atlantic Region from the latest version of the
Handy Whitman Index.

36



SCHEDULE 3

[ATTACH SECTION 5 “JOINT USE AND CLEARANCES” OF THE
ELECTRIC CITIES OF GEORGIA INC. CONSTRUCTION ASSEMBLY SPECIFICATIONS]

37



N ey

ROHO

»

™

MOHG

‘QvIA1 ONNOHD

IYNCLLIGIY TIVLISNI LON 0Q "GNNONO NOISSIWSNvAL OL TvulnaN GNOE 2
“UNMOYOD NOISSIWSNYXL QL GIANOB 38 TIVHS UVMCNYH T L

[

t1-
T

13
=7

:_L

SALON VHINZD

LERN
N e

Sl RS

\ ‘11 te R

W ONNOYSY
OvaHHIAO OL

i~ 4
TN

NOILNGIYLSIA ? NOISSIWNSNYY.L LNIOr

N |
| |

b *Ha

MIHO

=z

‘AAGET MOd

‘&HYS 021 1¥ FONVHYITD WONININ £t 38 TIVHS 8. NOISNIWIG

‘MOT3B ANV ANGLE

HOJd "YHVS L0Z1 LY JONYHVIID RNDNININ 18 38 TIVHS 8, NDISNIWIG §
AHOET F ANGLE 304 IONVIVITZ WANININ Ot 38 TIVHS v, NOISNINWIG

AMBS ¥OJ FINVUYITD WNWININ 9 38 TIYHS V. NOISNIWIC

ANV HO3 JONVYVITI WNAININ |

9 38 TIWHS ¥, NOISNINIG T

GINIVINIVIN 51 MOTIB NMOHS
WHo FONVAUVITD LYHL 0S GISVIMONE 3¢ OL SI ¥, NOISNAWID
'ST0e ALYNYALTY NO St NOISSINSNYUL JIHW |

WYY SSOUD

-
I

ISNOISNIAIG ¥04 SAUON

MI'B
|

[t
o<~

JU&C1

.,-
o

S

&

35
=| O
&
o
zZ
eI
0 =
s Z
<
o "3

slaciclo a8 of grorgle

DATE: _OCTCBER, 1992

CECG

38



FRIMARY CONDUCTOR

N

&= f=1H = — i =t
i " i
. et |
N 26.5 MINMUM TO | —
CONDUCTORS
13— = UP TO 22KV g= =4
/9 - ™\
/ NEUTRAL OR SECONDARY N\
/ CONDUCTOR \ \
/ | -
f =i ———— —  — = N\
| A~ ™~ A |
B | U
L& T
I.._w 2" ——a
24' MINIMUM TO
NEUTRAL OR SECONDARY
—750V ALL EQUIPMENT & POLES !
\_, . MUST HE LOCATER :
OUTSICE OF THIS SPACE.

L 3 %
et et

1. IF SPAN LENGTH EXCEEDS 250 FEET, CONDUCTOR CLEARANCE IS TO 8E INCREASED 0.3 FEET FOR EACH 10 FEET SPAN
LENGTH IN EXCESS OF THE 250 FEET.

2. CROSSINGS SHOULD BE MADE ON A COMMON SUPPORT STRUCTURE WHERE PRACTICAL. COOPERATION BETWEEN THE
PARTIES CONCERNED SHALL PREVAIL PROPER CLEARANCES.

3. EXCEPTIONS TO 12° HORIZONTAL SIDE CLEARANCE:

(a) A CLEARANCE OF NOT LESS THAN 8 FEET MAY BE ALLOWED WHERE NECESSARY [F THE SUPPORTING STRUCTURE IS NOT
THE CONTRCLLING OBSTRUCTION, PROVIDED SUFFICIENT SPACE FOR A ORIVEWAY IS LEFT WHERE CARS ARE LOADED.

() WHERE NECESSARY TO PROVIDE SAFE OPERATING CONDITIONS WHICH REQUIRE AN UNINTERRUPTED VIEW OF SIGNALS,
SIGNS, ETC. ALONG TRACKS THE PARTIES CONCERNED SHALL COOPERATE IN LOCATING STRUCTURES TO PROVIDE THE
NECESSARY CLEARAMCE.

(e} AT INDUSTRIAL SIDINGS, A CLEARANCE OF NOT LESS THAN 8§ FEET SHALL BE PERMITTEC, PROVIDED SUFFICIENT SPACE
18 LEFT WHERE CARS CAN BE LOADED OR UNLOADED.

RAILROAD CROSSING
CONSTRUCTION CLEARANCES

REVISIONS _JULY, 2001
OE% JANUARY, 2007 “ JUKC2

DATE: _OCTOBER, 1992

39




NOTES:

1. THIS 40" CLEARANCE ALSO APPLIES TO
THE CLOSEST METAL PCRTION OF ANY ONE
SPOOL OR FOUR SPDOL RACKS.

2. IF THE 20TTCM CF THE CONDUCTCR BRACKET
1S LESS THAN 10" FROM THE BOTTOM
OF THE TRANSFORMER TANK, THEN THE 40"
REQUIRED SPACE FROM THE 30TTOM OF THE
CONDUCTOR SHALL SUPERCEDE THE 307
SPACE FROM THE BOTTOM OF THE TRANSFORMER
TANK.

3. MESSENGER STRAMD SHALL 8E BONDED TO THE
POLE GRCUND, IF PRESENT.

GROUNDED TRANSFORMER TANK
CR OTHER GROUNDED EQUIPMENT

o SUCH AS CAPACITOR RACK,

RECLOSER, TANK, ETC.

COMMUNICATION CABLE

|

COMMUNICATION
DROP WIRE

COMMUNICATION
CABLE TERMINAL

TRANSFORMER POLE

CECG

et v Boe od gregia

REVISIONS _JULY, 2001

JU&C3

DATE: _OCTOBER, 1882

40




-SUPPLY CABLE

CONDUIT OR MCLDING

s}
1]
I

NE

7[

L

A Y

20" — MAY
BE REDUCED TO
4" IF BRACKET I
15 GROUNDED ! 12" — MAY BE REDUCED
TO 3" F DORIP LOOP IS
| | GUARDED WITH A SUITABLE
| |  NON—METALLIC COVERING.
' L g ==
E

[ i
MESSENGER STRAND SHALL BE COMMUNICATION
SONDED TO POLE GROUND, IF

PRESENT.
NOTES:
1.) LIGHT FIXTURE SHOWN IS SYMBOLIC ONLY.
CLEARANCES SHOWN ARE APPLICABLE
TO ANY TYPE FIXTURE USED.
2.) LOWEST PART OF LUMINAIRE SHALL SE
NOT LESS THAN 15" OVER ROADS,
STREETS, PARKING LOTS, OR ALLEYS.
C.A.T.V., TELEPHONE, OTHER
SEPARATION FROM LUMINAIRES
GECG REVISIONS _JULY, 2002
ECo JUuac4
DATE: _OCTOBER, 1992

41




SERVICE WIRES IN
NON-METALLIC CONDUIT

INSTALLED AND OWNED ' l
8Y C.A.T.V. COMPANY. - C.A.T.V. CABLE
e ==== 5 ==
SERVICE WIRES SHALL SE INSTALLED IN I~

NON—METALLIC CONDUIT AND MAY BE
PERMANENTLY INSTALLED AND OWNED | — TELEPHONE CABLE
BY THE ‘ClTY. S SENE— T Y ——— e e e s

i WEATHERPROOF QUTLET BOX AND RECEPTACLE

——= IF METALLIC SUPPORTS,
— e BONDG TO POLE GROUND.

' =
LOWEST PART CF DECORATION SHALL BE

NOT LESS THAN 15" OVER ROADS. STREETS,

PARKING LOTS, OR ALLEYS AND 11' WHEN

OVER AREAS SUBJECTED TO PEDESTRIANS

OR RESTRICTED TRAFFIC ONLY.

DECORATIVE
ATTACHMENT INSTALLATION

wacketw oifien of guargte

REVISIONS JULY, 2001
Ceco JU&CS

DATE: _OCTOBER, 1992

42



CONMECTORS SHALL BE
INSTALLED AND QWNED
BY THE ELECTRIC UTIUITY. ..\\

BN P—
) —— —I—W
|

MAX

.

SERVICE WIRES IN i
NON—-METALUC CONDUIT H

INSTALLED AND OWNED :
BY C.A.T.V. COMPANY. - l C.AT.V. CABLE
| B o S e
12 |__ TELEFHONE CABLE
- — - L ———

MESSENGER STRAND SHALL BE SIONDED
TO THE POLE GROUND, IF PRESENT.

C.A.T.V. CABLE FROTECTED
i ™=——_ BY MOULDING OR OTHER
m MECHANICAL PROTECTION.

o= POWER SUPPLY CASINET INSTALLED AND

“ OWNED BY C.A.T.V. COMPANY (ALTERNATE
PGSITION ABOVE CABLE OPTIONAL WITH

C.ATV. COMPANY)
\ SWTCH AND CABINET SHALL SE GROUNDED.

IF POLE GROUND 1S NOT PRESENT THEN
C.AT.V. COMPANY SHALL INSTALL ONE.

MINIMUM OF 15°
ABOVE GRCUND

MASTER BASE -

CONDUIT INSTALLED SY
DISCONNECT INSTALLED 8Y C.AT.V. COMPANY.
C.ATY. COVPANY, e

e

COMMUNICATION/SIGNAL TYPE ATTACHMENT
C.A.T.V. POWER SUPPLY INSTALLATION

AT REVISIONS _JULY, 2001 JURCS

wlouein aiBos of goargin

DATE: _OCTOBER, 1892

43



YCOMMUNICATION /SIGNAL TYPE_ATTACHMENT
TELEPHONE CABLE
C.AT.Y. CABLE
ALARM CABLE {FIRE. POLICE. WATER
TOWER LEVEL, ETC.)
TRAFFIC SIGNAL CONTROL CABLE
TELEGRAPH CABLE
PUBLIC OR PRIVATE COMMUNICATION
CABLE

NOTES:
1.} WHEN C.A.T.V. AND TELEPHONE ARE ATTACHED
T0 POLE, C.A.T.V.'S PREFERRED POSITICN IS

ASOVE TELEPHONE (12" MIN.). IF OTHER POWER NEUTRAL OR
COMMUNICATION /SIGNAL TYPE CABLES ARE SECONDARY CONDUCTOR OF
ATTACHED TC POLE WITH C.AT.V. AND/OR NCT MORE THAN 750 VOLTS
TELEPHONE, THEIR POSITICN SHALL BE TO GROUNG.

MUTUALLY AGREED UFQON.

2.} 12" MIN. SPACING SHOULD BE MAINTAINED
BETWEEN CASBLES. C.AT.V. AND TELEPHONE H——_-— —
DROPS CAN BE LESS THAN 12” FROM OTHER = 7 i
CABLES, DROPS SHALL BE 40" BELOW POWER ‘ |
NEUTRAL OR SECONCARY AT POLE.

3.3 ALL CABLES SHALL BE ON SAME SIDE OF FOLE. | ES

4.} MESSENGER STRAND SHALL BE BONDED
TO POLE GROUND, IF PRESENT.

= =J=A ! UPPERMOST COMMUNICATION/
| e i SIGNAL TYPE ATTACHMENT
= == { COMMUNICATION /SIGNAL
1= i TYPE ATTACHMENT
kg == 1 COMMUNICATION /SIGNAL
. - 1 TYPE ATTACHMENT
-
S . COMMUNICATION /SIGNAL
== =t TYPE ATTACHMENT

2K FOR SUPPLY NEUTRAL CNLY,
THIS MAY BE REDUCED TO 307,

MULTIPLE COMMUNICATION/
SIGNAL TYPE ATTACHMENT

o ECG REVISIONS _JULY, 2001

Rterten JU&C7

DATE: _OCTOBER, 1982

44




FOOTNOTES TABLE 1.

1.

10,

Where the height of a building or other installation does not permit service drops

to meet these values, the clearances over residential driveways only may be reduced

to the following:

EEET
a. Service drops limited to 300 V to ground 2.5
b. Service drip loops limited tc 300 V to ground 10.5
c. Service limited to 150 V to ground 12.0
d. Drip loops only of service limited to 180 V to ground 10.0

Where the height of d building or other instdllation does not permit service drops
to maet these values, the clearonces may be reduced to the following:

EEET:
d. Service drops, including drip loops, limited to 300 V te ground 10.5
b. Setvice drops, including drip loops, limited to 150 V to ground 10.0

Spaces and ways subject fo pedestrians or restricted traffic only are those areas
where equestrians, vehicles, or other mobile units, exceeding 8ft. in height, are
prohibited by regulation or perrmanent terrain configurations or are otherwise not
normally encountered or reaschably anticipated.

Where a supply or communication line along a road is located relative to fences,
ditches, embankmentis, etc., so that the ground under the line would not be
expected to be traveled except by pedesirians, the clearance may be reduced to
the following values:

FEET:
a. Insulated communications cables, neutrals. guys.
and multiplex supply cables limited to 150 V to ground 2.5
b. Multiplex supply cables limited to 300 V tc ground 12.5

This clearance may be reduced to 13 ft. for communication conductors and guys.
guy:

Where this construction crosses over or runs dlong olleys, driveways, or parking lots,
this clearonce may be reduced to 15 ft.

For centrolled impoundments, the surface area and corresponding clearances shall
be based upon the design high water level. For other waters, the service area
shall be that enclosed by its annual high water mark, and clearances shall be
based on the normal flood level. The clearance over rivers, streams, and canals
shall be based upon the largest surface area of any ' mi. long segment, which
includes the crossing. The clearance over a canal, river, or stream normally used
to provide access for sqilboats to a larger bedy of water shall be the same as
that required for the larger body of water.

For the purpose of this rule, trucks are defihed as dany vebicle exceeding 8 ft. in
height. Areos not subject to itruck traffic are areas where truck traffic is not
normally encountered ar not reasonably aniicipated.

Communication cables and zonductors may have a clearance of 15 ft, where poles
dare back of curbs or other deterrents to vehicular traffic.

Note: Footnote 8 and 11 were intentionally omitted

45




FOOTNOTES TABLE 1: (cont'd)

12. Where the U.S5. Army Corps of Engineers, or the state or the surrogate thereof
has issued a crossing permit, clearance of that permit shall govern.

13. For centrolled impoundments, the surface area and correspending clearance shall
be based upon the design high water level. For other waters, the surface area
shall be that enclosed by its annual high water mark, and clearances shall be
shall be based upon the largest surface area of any one mile long segment thot
includes the crossing. The clearance of a canal, river or stream normally used
to provide access fer saoilboots to o larger body of water shall be the same as
required for the larger body of water.

14. Where an over water obsiruction restricts vessel height to less than the following:

Surface Ared Reference Vessel Height
(Acres) (Feet}

less than 20 16
20 to 200 24

200 to 2000 30
over 2000 36

The required clearances may be reduced by the difference between the reference
vessel height given above and the over water obstruction height, except that the
reduced clearance shall not be less than that required for the surface area on the
line crossing side of the obstruction.

The vertical clearance shall be maintained with the conductor at final sag and
at the following condition whichever results in the greater vertical sag:

1. 32" F, no wind, with radial thickness of ice of 1/4 inch for medium louding
and ne ice for light loading.

Or

2.  The maximum conductor for which the line is designed to operate, if greater
than 120° F.{(120" F for all neutrals}

Note:

All cleagrances shown dre design cleurances under specified conditions, not measured
cledarances under ambient conditions.

46



VOLTAGES ARE PHASE TO GROUND FOR EFFECTIVELY GROUNDED CIRCUITS

NSULATED DUPLEX,
COMMUNICATION TRIPLEX, &
CONRUCTORS ARG QUADRAPLEX
CABLE; MESSENGERS: CABLE WITH
NATURE OF SURFACE GROUNDED GUYS; GROUNDED GUYS; OPEN WIRE
UNDERNEATH WIRES, SYSTEM NEUTRAL GROUNDED OFEN WIRE SECONDARY CONOUCTORS
CONDUCTORS, OR CASLES NEUTRAL CONDUCTORS OVER 750 VOLTS
9 — 750 VOLTS 6 — 750 VOLTS O 22KV
{N FEET) {IN FEET} IN_FEET) (IK_FEET)
WHESE WIRES, CONDUCTORS, OR CABLE CROS OVER 07 OVERHANG
1. TRACK RAILS OF RAILROADS. 23.5 74 745 26.5
2. ROADS, STREETS, AND OTHER
AREAS SUBJECT TO TRucK 15.5 15 16.5 18.5
TRAFFIC. (SEE NOTE 6.}
3. DRIVEWAYS, PARKING LOTS, AND 5.5 16 8.5 =
ALLEYS {SEE NOTES 1 AND §) |(SEE NOTES 1 AND 6} (SEE NOTE 1) -
4. OTHER LAND TRAVERSED BY
VEHICLES SUCH AS CULTIVATED, 15.5 15 16.5 18.5
GRAZING, FOREST, GRCHARD, ETC.
R . r
o ; 9.5 ‘ ? 14.5
TRAFFIC ONLY. (SEE NOTE 3.) (SEE NOTE 2) (SEE NOTE 1)
6. WATER AREAS NOT SUITABLE
FOR SAILBOATS OR #WHERE . s s
SAILBOATS ARE PRCHIBITED. ! 14.3 ¢ 17
(SEE NOTE 12.)
7. A) WATER AREAS (NOT RECULATED BY
CORPS OF ENGR.) SUTABLE FOR
SMLBOATS, INCLUDING LAKES, PONDS,
RESERVCIRS, TIDAL WATERS. RIVERS.
STREAMS, AKD CANALS WITH AN
TR s AN 20, ACRES” 125 18 185 20.5
B. 20 TO 200 ACRES a3 3 e 285
C. 200 TO 2000 ACRES 2 ks
0. OYER 2000 ACRES 37.5 38 385 40.5
(SEE NOTES 12, 13, & 14.)
7. B) WATER AREAS REGULATED BY
CORPS OF ENGINEERS 52 55 55 55
(SEE NOTE 7}
8. PUBLIC OR PRIVATE LAND CLEARANCE AHOVE GRDUND SHALL SE
AND WATER AREAS POSTED 5 FEET GREATER THAN IN 7. ABOVE, FOR
FOR RIGGING OR LAUNCHING THETYPE OF WATER AREAS SERVED BY
SAILBCATS. THE LAUNCHING SITE.
WHERE WIRES, CONDUCTOR, OR CABLES RUN ALONG AND WTHIN THE LIMITS OF
HIGHWAY OR OTHER RVAD RIGHT~0OF-WAY BUT DD NOT OVERHANG THE ROADWAY
155 15.5 ‘
9. ROADS, STREET, OR ALLEYS (SEE NOTES & AND 10) (SEE KOTES 6) 8.5 185
10, RCADS IN RURAL DISTRICTS
YMERE IT IS UNUKELY THAT 165 14.0 145 .
VEHICLES VALL BE CROSSING {SEE NOTES 4 AND 5} (SEE NOTES 4) (SEE NOTES 4) -
UNDER THE LINE.

*ALWAYS REFER TO THE LATEST MESC

(REFERENCE NESC RULE 232. 2007 EDITIGN. FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATICN)

VERTICAL CLEARANCES OF WIRES,

CONDUCTORS, AND CABLES ABOVE GROUND,

ROADWAYS, RAILS, OR WATER

REVISIONS _JULY, 2002

TABLE 1

DATE: _OCTORER, 1992

47




FOOTNOTES TABLE 2;

to

o

10.

Where a building, sign, chimney, antenna, tank, or other installation does not require
maintenance such as painting, washing, changing of sign letters. or other operations which
would require persons te work or pass between supply conductors or unguarded rigid live
parts and structures, the clearance may be reduced by Z fi.

A roof, balcony, or area is considered readily occessible to pedestrions if the meons
of access is through a doorway, ramp, window, stairway, or permanently mounted
ladder. A permanently mounted ladder is not considered a means of access if its
bottom rung is 8 ft. or more from the ground or other permanently installed
accessible surface.

The required clearances shall be to the closest approach of motorized signs or moving
portions of installaticns.

For the purpose of this rule, trucks are defined as any vehicle exceeding 8 fi. in
height.

This clearance may be reduced to 3 in. for the grounded portions of the guys.

Windows not designed to open may have the clearance permitted for the walls and
projections.

The horizontal clearance shall not be less than 3.5' plus the displacement of the
conductor by a 6 Ib/#t2 wind at 60" F, final sag.

The horizontal clearance shall not be less than 4.3' plus the displacement of the
conductor by o 6 Ih/ft2 wind at 60" F, findl sdg.

Where awailable space will not permit this value, the clearance may be reduced to
7.0 ft. for conductors limited to 8.7 KV te ground.

Note: Footnote 2 was intenticnolly emitted.

48




.

H = HORIZONTAL CLEARARCE
T = TRANUTIONAL = VERTICAL {aRC)

VOLTAGES ARE PHASE TO GROUND FOR EFFECTIVELY GROUNDED CIRCUITS
INSULATED
COMMUNICATION
CONDUSTORS AND UNGUARDED RIGt  OPEN WIRE.
fCABLES: MESSENGERS{MULTPLEX SUPPLY|  OFEN WRE LIVE PARTS, CONEUCTORS
GROUNDED GUYS:; CABLE CONDUCTORS  |OMER 750 VOLTS| OVER 750 VOLTS
MEUTRAL CONDUCTGRS| O — 750 VOLTS | © — 750 vOLTS [T0 22 KILovoLTS| TO 22 KILOVOLT
(n
CLEARSMCE FROM- N FEET® {Ix FEET) {IN FEET) (N FEET)
1. BUILDINGS
A HORIZONTAL 45 5.0 55 7.0 7.5
{1) TO WALLS. PROJECTIONS. AND {SEE NOTE &) (SEE NCTE %) |(SEE NOTE 1 & 8}| (SEE NOTE 1) [SEE NOTE 59.&C)
GUARDED WINDOWS.
{2) TO UNGUARDED WINDOWS. " . 5.5 7 75
(SEE NOTE 7) g g (SEE NOTE 1 & 8} ) SEE NOTE 9 & 10
O R e 2 z
ACCESS! NS. 45 5.0 " 7.0 . : .
(SEE NCTE 3) (SEE NOTE 8) [SEE NOTE 8 & 10
8. VERTICAL
{1} OVER OR UNDER ROOF OR
PROJECTIONS NOT READILY 30 35 10.5 12.0 12.5
ACCESSIALE TO PEDESTRIANS.
(SEE NOTE 3)
27 OvER 77 UNDER BALLGIIECAND
A0
S aanpent ¥ _ACCESSIBLE 10.5 1o "5 13.0 13.5
(s TE 3]
(37 CVER 2COFS #CCESSBLE T0
n
e ) eaT BT 10.5 18 1.5 3.0 135
(SEE_NOTE 5)
[ T4) GVER ROOFS ACCESSELE 10
TRUCK TRAFFIC. 5.5 16.0 16.5 18,0 8.5
{SEE NOTE 5)
2. SIGNS, CHIMNEYS, BILLBOARDS,

RADIO AND TELEVISION ANTENNAS,

TANKS, AND OTHER INSTALLATIONS

NOT CLASSIFIED AS BUILDINGS 4.5 50 8.5 7.0 75

OR BRICGES

A. HORIZONTAL; (SEE NOTE 4)

(1) READILY ACCESSIBLE »

(2} NCT READLY ACCESSISLE 3.0 35 L 7.0 7.5

- : (SEE NOTES 1 & &) - 'SEE NDTE 1,8,&10)
B, VERTICAL

(1) OVER OR UNDER CATWALKS ,

HOIGhIE: SURRACE S R 10.5 e 1.5 13,0 155
WHICH PERSONNEL WALK.

{2} OVER OR UNDER OTHER 30 3 5.0 75 -
PORTIONS. OF SUCH i 5 5 !
INSTALLATIONS, (SEE NOTE 1)

*ALWAYS REFER TO THE LATEST NESC
(REFERENCE NESC RULE 232, 2007 EDITION, FOR ADDITIONAL INFGRMATION)

CLEARANCES OF WIRES, CABLES, AND UNGUARDED RIGID
LIVE PARTS ADJACENT BUT NOT ATTACHED TO
BUILDINGS AND OTHER INSTALLATIONS EXCEPT BRIDGES

GECG REVISIONS _JULY, 2001
Tewr TABLE 2

DATE: _OCTOBER, 1992

49




50



ODRVINANCE Zo24-05

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES
‘ BENEFIT SYSTEM

DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN

AN ORDINANCE
and
ADOPTION AGREEMENT
for

City of Grantville

Form Pre-approved Plan Adoption Agreement
Amended and Restated for Third Six-Year Cycle, 2020 Cumulative List

City of Grantville (2023 - 2025 Restatement)



TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE
L. AN ORDINANCE ...t cestenee st st st s sse e ess e ssnssnsst st st e s e st essea b s seansessasnseneeneeneen 1
1I. GMEBS DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN

ADOPTION AGREEMENT ...ttt cese et et e nae e s e s aesaessa e st as s s 2
1. ADMINISTRATOR ..ottt ettt sest s bn e s b et ceeeneon 2
2. ADOPTING EMPLOYER. ... ceeccecrtermeserrsestesteseeeaeieeesesessesssessesressessees 2
3. GOVERNING AUTHORITY ..ottt eteeeeetenn et err st st sesse s e ne 2
4. PLAN REPRESENTATIVE ... ceeereeceertsensnsseese st eneas 2
5. PENSION COMMITTEE.......ccccovniiiiiiniiiiinininissiseseeeeseiessesseesesseessesressesvssseas 3
6. TYPE OF ADOPTION ...ttt et se et e veste sttt ne 3
7. EFFECTIVE DATE ...ttt et snssbes e sba st ensesse e saesss s srenens 3
8. PLAN YEAR ..ottt see e se e s e aa st et sbe b s 4
9. CLASSES OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES. ..ot eseeeeeeeeeeenn 5
A. Eligible Regular EMPIOYEES ........cccccnivcrriinnrcrieciennnininnreeeeee s 5
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority ...................... 5
10.  ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS.....ccoitttiteeteeerieeseereenteerneseeesssessesseesesssessnesssessessnees 6
A. Hours Per Week (Regular EMplOyees) .....covvevueevveinieceeesinecceeeeeecvenneene 6
B. Months Per Year (Regular EmMployees) .....coceeeveeecieiieecnreeeeeceiciiriceree s 6
11, WAITING PERIOD......cutiitiieieiieecteeerteeceeeeetesee st eessesssessssssesssssenesssnessesnne 7
12.  ESTABLISHING PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN ....cccccoovvnmirrerecmeeeeeererennn 7
13.  CREDITED SERVICE .....couiiiieeeeiececeennieserceteeeeeteniennenre s s be s s sssesssenen 7
A. Credited Past Service with Adopting Employer ...........ccocceevvvvenieeececennennee.. 8
B. Prior Military SEIvice .......ccoovvuiveceiiiiniiicniiiniiccnntneniesieesesree et enessenees 9
C. Prior Governmental SErviCe.......coeevvuirveeccenriiniieenieeecreeceeeetiesereesseesves e 10

D. Leave Conversion for Unused Paid Time Off (e.g., Sick,
Vacation, or Personal Leave).......cccuvvevvieniieniiiniinniecreceeccee e cseee s 12
14.  RETIREMENT ELIGIBILITY ...cocteiieiiiieteneteietentete et ee e sre b s sssssssans 13
A. Early Retirement Qualifications .............cccccccervcciivccnnennininneneee e, 13
B. Normal Retirement Qualifications.........covvvveeveriireciecirccericerieeeeeseeeeae 14
C. Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications ............ooccvvvcveeeeecceeeeerunenns 16
D. Disability Benefit Qualifications .........ccccceveveeveeernernnenieneesieeerecieeeenns 20
15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMPUTATION....ccccccermmriirirrereeeteeeeeeeereseessreens 20
A. Maximum Total Credited SErvice........ccceeveevereievieeceereecerenreesneeeece e 20
B. Monthly Normal Retirement Benefit Amount..........cccevevieveeveceenneennnneee. 21
C. Monthly Early Retirement Benefit Amount .......ccccevvveveeeveevceeereenncnne. 23
D. Monthly Late Retirement Benefit Amount (check one): ..........cvevee..... 24
E. Monthly Disability Benefit Amount...........c.ccoceoeevcvvniencennincieneneceeeeenee 25
F. Minimum/Maximum Benefit For Elected Officials ...............cccorvmnnrnne.... 25

16.  SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS FOLLOWING BONA FIDE
SEPARATION OF SERVICE; COLA .......ccoccovtirmerevrceniniianrenreecsrenreeresssesseenes 26
i

City of Grantville (2023 - 2025 Restatement)



17.

18.

19.

20.

21.
22.

A. Re-Employment as Eligible Employee After Normal,

Alternative Normal, or Early Retirement and Following

Bona Fide Separation of Service (see Basic Plan Document

Section 6.06(c) Regarding Re-Employment as an Ineligible

Employee and Basic Plan Document Section 6.06(¢) and (f)

Regarding Re-Employment After Disability Retirement).........................
B. Cost Of Living AdJuStMeEnt.......c.veeveeceveeeeeccenine e
TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BEFORE RETIREMENT;
VESTING ..ttt eeceeee st st s e e ssessessessassassessbenssssessennansensensestensnones
A. Eligible Regular EMplOYeEes .........ccccevrvierienenininieeeeeene et
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority ....................
PRE-RETIREMENT DEATH BENEFITS ......cccccooiiiiiriiinenireceeeseseee e
A. In-Service Death Benefit.......c.coovvieeevecceiccicicininiineeccse e
B. Terminated Vested Death Benefit.........occocveeeveveeeniiininieieeeecceee e

MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION
AGREEMENT ..ottt et te s s et s ettt s

EMPLOYER ADOPTION AND AUTHORIZATION FOR
AMENDMENTS ...ttt see st b sssesnens

—ii—

City of Grantville (2023 - 2025 Restatement)



I. AN ORDINANCE

An Ordinance to amend and restate the Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of
Grantville, Georgia, in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the
attached Adoption Agreement, any Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Georgia
Municipal Employees Benefit System (GMEBS) Basic Plan Document, and the GMEBS Trust
Agreement. When accepted by the authorized officers of the City and GMEBS, the foregoing
shall constitute a Contract between the City and GMEBS, all as authorized and provided by
0.C.G.A. § 47-5-1 et seq.

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Grantville, Georgia, and it is
hereby ordained by the authority thereof:

Section 1. The Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of Grantville, Georgia, is
hereby amended and restated as set forth in and subject to the terms and conditions stated in the
following Adoption Agreement, any Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Georgia
Municipal Employees Benefit System (GMEBS) Basic Plan Document, and the GMEBS Trust

Agreement.

Ordinance continued on page 36

City of Grantville (2023 - 2025 Restatement)



Nbo. 202%4-05

AN ORDINANCE (continued from page 1)

Section 2. Except as otherwise specifically required by law or by the terms of the Basic
Plan Document or Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum), the rights and obligations under the
Plan with respect to persons whose employment with the City was terminated or who vacated
office with the City for any reason whatsoever prior to the effective date of this Ordinance are-
fixed and shall be governed by such Plan, if any, as it existed and was in effect at the time of

such termination.

Section 3. The effective date of this Ordinance shall be the date of its approval by the
Governing Authority (not earlier than the first day of the current Plan Year in which the
Plan is adopted, unless a retroactive corrective amendment is permitted under EPCRS,
Rev. Proc. 2021-30 (or subsequent updated guidance)).

Section 4. All Ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly
repealed.

Approved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Grantville, Georgia, this day
of 520 .
Attest: CITY OF GRANTVILLE, GEORGIA
City Clerk Mayor
(SEAL)
Approved:
City Attorney

The terms of the foregoing Adoption Agreement are approved by the Board of Trustees
of Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Trustees of Georgia Municipal Employees
Benefit System has caused its Seal and the signatures of its duly authorized officers to be affixed

this day of , 20 .
Board of Trustees
Georgia Municipal Employees
Benefit System
(SEAL)
Secretary
-36 -

City of Grantville (2023 - 2025 Restatement)



ORDINANCE NUMBER 2024- O (p

AN ORDINANCE BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF
GRANTVILLE AMENDING CHAPTER 2; ARTICLE VII, SECTION 2-162 TO
ESTABLISH THE PROCESS FOR FILLING VACANCIES ON THE
RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD, THEIR TERMS OF APPOINTMENT;
AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council are authorized pursuant to state law to offer
and provide parks, open spaces and recreation services for the residents of the City of

Grantville; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to provide a means for citizen input into
the recreation; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council have determined that the appropriate means of
accomplishing that purpose is to establish a Parks and Recreation Advisory Board for the
City of Grantville composed of five members,

NOW THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Mayor and Council of the City of Grantville,
Georgia as follows:

The Mayor and Council of the City of Grantville, Georgia hereby ordain as follows:
Section 1.
ARTICLE VIL RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD

Section 2-162. Board members: Number, appointment, terms, and compensation.

This Section is amended by deleting Paragraph (b)(2) in its entirety and
replacing it as follows:

(b) Terms of Appointment.

(2) Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as appointments are made. If a
vacancy occurs prior to the expiration of a member’s term, the new appointee
shall complete the expired term. When any member’s term expires, they shall
be required to apply for reappointment in the same manner as new

appointments are made.

Section 2. Repealer
All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are repealed.

First Reading:




SO ORDAINED in lawfully assembled open session this day of
. 2024.

MAYOR

Attest:

Clerk



